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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

ANGELLA PETERS et al,
Plaintiffs,

\Z Civil Action No. 09€v-02020 (BAH)

Judge Beryl A. Howell
DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA,

Defendant.

MEMORANDUM OPINION

Plaintiffs are nine current and former employees of the District of Columbia’s Child and
Family Services Agency (“CFSA”), who assert that the CFSA “disoated against them and
similarly situated employees on the basis of their race, national origiraradjer in retaliation
for complaining about discriminatory practices.” Second Amended Complaint GICpnECF
No. 17, at 2. As a consequencdCdiSAs alleged discriminatory and retaliatory acson
plaintiffs claim that they are entitled to damages under Title VIl of the Civil RightsfAQGH,

42 U.S.C. § 2000et seq, the Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967 (“ADEA”), 29
U.S.C. 8§ 633a(a), the District of Columbia Human Rights Act (“DCHRA”), and 42 U.S.C. 88
1981 and 1983.

Pending before the Court are (1) the defendant’s motion, pursuant to Rule 13(H)¢€5)
Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, to dismiss plaintiffs’ Second Amended Complaih{2) two
motions, pursuant to Rule 24 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, for leave to permit nine
additional current and former employees of CFSA to intervene as plaintiffis iadtion. All
together, the plaintiffs’ Complaint and proposed intervenors’ Complaisitgervention amount

to over one hundred pages and over one thousand numbered paragraphs. They have alleged such
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a plethora of facts that they have made clear their success on the meritsssblapd-or the
reasons set forthelow, the Court finds that the claims of six plaintiffs are barregéyudicata
or failure to meethe procedural prerequisites for bringing this action, and the claims of ¢ee thr
remaining plaintiffs fail to state cognizable causes of acti@onsequently, the defendant’
motion to dismiss is granted and thetiors to intervenare denied.
l. FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

A. Procedural History

Two plaintiffs, AngellaPeter$ and LarryMcCall, initiated this lawsuit on October 28,
2009, aleging that the District of Columbia violated their rights under the Due Fr@tasise of
the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitytionwhich they sought damages under 42
U.S.C. 881981 and 198%hortly thereafter, the plaintiffs fileeh anended complaint adding
four plaintiffs— Maria Dyson, Augustine Ekwem, Jacqueline Moore and Katherine Washington
— as wel as claims under Title VII ahe Civil Rights Act of 1964, the ADEA, and the
DCHRA. On March 16, 2010, the Court granted the plaintiffs’ unopposed motion for leave to
file a Second AnendedComplaint? which addedhreemoreplaintiffs: Joan Simpson, Melva

Meade, and Cynthia Courldarshall®> SeeMinute Order (Mar. 16, 2010) (Sullivan, 3.).

There is discrepancy in the briefing material from the plaintiffs abouspletling of the lead plaintiff's first name
(she is sometimes referred to as “Angela” and other times referred to aslé®ngéhe Court will refer to Ms.
Peters as “Angella,” whicts how her named is spelled in the Second Amended Comp&ésECF No. 17.

’ For ease of reference, the Second Amended Complaint, ECF No. 17, whiclsi® an ithe pending motion to
dismiss, will be cited a&Compl” herein.

* Although the defend initially opposed the filing of the Second Amended Complaint as fihiegéfendant
withdrew its opposition and inste&decided the most efficient way to address the procedural and substantive
deficiencies . .would be to file a comprehensive Matito Dismiss in resptse to this pleading. . . .” Def.’'s Mem.
in Opp’n to Mot. to Amend, ECF No. 15, 1 7.

* This case was rassigned to the current presiding Judge on January 21, 2011.
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The plaintiffs have continued to seek ledwadd plaintiffs to this action. rQJuly 23,
2010,andagain on April 22, 2011, the plaintiffs moved, pursuarig¢deraRule of Civil
Procedure 24, to allow total ofnine additional puattive plaintiffs to interveneThese motions
to interveneareopposed by the defendant and have been denied by Order entered on March 30,
2012. This Memorandum Opinion sets forth the reasons for that Order.

B. Allegations in Second Amendedomplaint

The nine plaintiffs named in the Second Amended Complaint are black women and men
who have worked as caseworkers and supervisors at the CFSA for varying térigties
ranging from three to eighteen years. Four of the plaintiffs are curréornoer caseworkers
and the other five plaintiffs are currentformer syervisors. The four caseworker plaintiffs
(AngellaPeters, Larry McCall, Maria Dyson and Katherine Washington) complairaplym
about the allegedly abusive and discriminatory conduct directed at them byeassipgtvisor.
Three of these caseworkerpitiffs apparently remain employed at CF®#&th Maria Dyson
and Katherine Washington remain caseworkers in Child Protective Services’);'GP
component of CFSA, andarry McCalls currentassigment is not identified.The five
managemenplaintiffs (Cynthia Courts-Marshall, Jacqueline Moore, Joan Simpson, Augustine
Ekwem and Melva Meadegpmplain abouthe conduct of at least eight other managers at
CFSA, including the CFSA Deputy Director of Operatidos allegedly creating a hostile work
environment, and discriminatory and retaliatory conduct. Two of the managementfglainti
(Augustine Ekwenand Melva Meade) remain employed at CFSA, while the ofineet
managemenplaintiffs (Cynthia CourtdMarshall,Jacqueline Moorand Joan Simpsoye no

longer employed at CFSA.
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The Second Amended Complaint assents ¢ore allegations against CFSA: first,
“[f] rom as early as 2001, the Child and Family Services Agency had a custom of aitewing
supervisors to bully older, bladocial workersparticularlythose from Africa othe Caribbean
Islands,” and this conduct created a hostile work environment that management condoned.
Compl.at2. Second, CFSA, from as early as 2003, “had a custom of allowing its supervisors to
retaliate against social workers wbomplain about discriminatory practicedd. The alleged
retaliatory actions against the plaintiffs took different forms, ranging freassgnment of
duties to demotion in position to the unfair assignment of an overwhelming caseload.
Specifically,the fourcaseworker plaintiffeomplainthat, following the tragic discovery, in
January 2008, of theeathsof Banita JacKkdour young daughters in a Washington, D.C. row
house, there was"aurge in [the number of] child abuse and neglect repoits. Y 75-89
(Peters), 1 125-33 (McCall), 11 1683 (Dyson), T 213-28 (Washington). While
acknowledging this across-the-board increase in workloadageworker plaintiffs complain
that they were assigned an unfair number of cases, wiastlted in backlogs and prompted
adverse employment actigmanging from beingwritten up” to reprimandsld. Two
supervisor plaintiffalso allegeetaliation: Jacqueline Moore alleges that after she complained to
human resources about her treatment by a supersisoryas retaliated against, 1 27-310,
and Cynthia Courtd4arshall alleges that she was retaliated against after she refused to fire
employees as instructed by her supervisbf]{605-10, 617-18. The allegedigtaliatory
actions against tise two supervisors included poor job performance evaluations, which resulted
in a denial of pay increasead, {1 272-81, 293 (Moorgjlemotionto a caseworker position to
help with the posflacks tragedy surge in cases 1 28486 (Moore); ande-assignmenbr

removal of dutiesid. 11 308-10 (Moore)d. 1 63035 (CourtsMarshall)®

> The three remaining supervisors (Simpson, Meade and Ekwem} desest retaliation claims.
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All nine plaintiffs claim that they were discriminated against on the basis oanace

subjected or exposed to a hostile work environment during at least some portion of their

employment at CFSA between 2001 and 20@our plaintiffs Ekwem Moore, Peters and

Simpson) also claim discrimination on the basis of national origin. Six plaiiy&sof

Ekwem McCall, Moore, Peters and Washingtatdim age discrimination, evehdugh the

three plaintiffs who do not make this claim are also over 40 years of age and two af¢hem

older than some of the plaintiffs who do claim age discriminattonally, six plaintiffs (Courts

Marshall,Dyson McCall, Moore,Peters and Washingtpclaim retaliatior!

The Title VIl and ADEA discrimination claims asserted by each plaintiff amersarized

in the chart below.

Plaintiff — Discrimination based upon: Hostile Work | Retaliation

Position Race National Environment
(Black) Origin Age  @nder

Peters- \ \ (Jamaican)| V NO \ \

Caseworker (51)

McCall — v NO NO |[NO N N

Caseworker (57)

Washington- | + NO N, NO N, v

Caseworker (52)

Dyson — N NO N, NO N, N,

Caseworker (49)

® Based upon statements contained in the plaihtiffstion for leave to amend, the defendant construed the claims
asserted in the Second Amended Complaint by the three new plaintiffss(@inMeade and Coufidarshall) to be

limited to claims “Under the Due Process Clause of the Fifth Amendment to the U.S.t@ostlue to the

deprivation of equal protection rights; 42 U.S.C. § 1983; and 42 U.S.C. 8 {PB%.Mot. Amend, p.2.}). Def.s
Mem.in Supp.of Mot. to Dismiss (“Def.’s Mem”), ECF No. 21at9. The Court disagrees with the defendant
view. The Second Amended Complaint asserts the same Title VII claims on behbthef@hintiffs. Compl. 1

10-13.

" Only Plaintiff Ekwem asserts additional claims of gendiscrimination and pendent claims for negligence,
defamation and violation of the District of ColumlsidVhistleblower Reinforcement Aof 1998 D.C. Law 12
160. Compl. 11 426, 49801.
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Meade- \ NO NO NO N, NO
Supervisor (60)

Ekwem— N v (Nigerian) | v V(Male) | NO
Supervisor (52)

Simpson — v \ (Jamaican)l NO | NO \ NO
Supervisor (52)

Moore — N N \ NO \ v
Supervisor (Trinidadian)| (66)

Courts- v NO NO |[NO v v
Marshall— (46)

Administrator

Thefactual allegations underlyirtge claimsof discrimination, hostile work environment
and retaliatory actions vary among the plaintiffs, as described in moreludtail. Detailed
review of these claims, viewing the claims in the light most favorable to the plaiistiffs
necessary to assesegithsufficiency and whether they “plausibly give rise to an entitlertment
relief,” as required byAshcroft v. Igbal556 U.S. 662, 129 S. Ct. 1937, 1941, 173 L. Ed. 2d 868
(2009).

1. Allegations of CFSA-CPS CaseworkerPlaintiff s Supervised by the
SameSupervisor

Four of the plaintiffs served as caseworkar€ FSAs Child Protective Serviceand
complain about thallegedlydiscriminatory and retaliatory conduct of the same supervisor.

Plaintiff Angella Petersis a 5tyear old, black woman of Jamaican origin, who worked
as a CPS caseworker for approximately 12 years until her resigimatixtober, 2009. Compl.
19 24, 25, 93. On November 9, 200% $iled a complaint against the CFSA with tgual
Employment Opportunity Commissi¢hEEOC’), which issued a righ-sue letter on March 2,
2010. Id. § 2. Peters claims racjalational origin and age discrimination, a hostile work

environment and retaliation based upon allegations that (1) a white woman supervisor
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(“Supervisor A")® to whom Peters was assigned in 20@&dted black caseworkers from

Africa and the Caribbean Islands in a demeaning fashidnf 40, apparently prompting three
other employees from Jamaica and Nigeria to transfer out of the supervisopsidyr 11 4046,

48; (2) Supervisor A complained about, and punished Peters for, “alleged transgressions of othe
caseworkers,id. 11 5051; “screamed at, talked down to, and pointed her finger at [Plaintiff]
Peters,” as well as yelleat her in front of othersd. 1 5253, andmade “intimidating
comment&that the supervisor did not make to her “African American co-workets,f 54-

55; (3) Supervisor A tookither actions against Petessich as blocking her from leaving her
cubicle, stopping colleagues from talking to her, and following Peters “into thebatland
instruct[ing] her to get back to her typing as she used the bathroomidtalf] 5658; (4)
Supervisor A “bullied” white caseworkelid, 1 37; (5)Supervisor A retaliatedfter Peters and

her ceworkers comfained tothe Program MinagerSupervisor B’ about Supervisor A’s

“abusive behavior” and race discrimination, prompting Supervisor B toshaldetingn 2007

with Supervisor A and members of the unit, to discuasiél sensitivity and “assure[] the

group thd there would be no retaliatignd. 11 6872; and (5) following the Jacks tragedy,
Peters was “assigned an overwhelming number of cases,” resulting in a casg fiaokhich
shewas given warnings, a reprimand and proposed suspension in October, 2009, while other
members of Supervisor A’s unit with similbacklogs were not written ujd. 1175-87 (under

caption “Retaliation”). Peters’ complaints to two program managers, Supe@isors D, “to

® Supervisor A is Donna 8&en Compl.{ 30. Given the number of names of both plaintiffs and other CFSA
employees whose conduct is described in the Second Amended Complaiaid confusion, only the names of
the plaintiffs are used in the text of this Opinion and-party employees are referred to by their posiand a
designated letter rather than by name.

® Supervisor B is Felicia Cowser, about whom the Complaint provideacia or ethnic information.Compl.  63.
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end the abuse” were not addressketl.{ 882° In October 2009, Peters resigned from CFSA
“due to intolerable working conditionsfd. {1 9394.

Plaintiff Larry McCall is a 57year old black man, whalsoworked as £PS
caseworkeunder Supervisor AHe filed a complaint with the EEOC against theSBFoutat
the time of filing the complaint hatbt received a righto-sue letter.Id. § 3 McCall claims
racialandage discrimination, a hostile work environment and retaliation based upon allegations
that(1) he was subjected to Supervisor A’s intlating comments such as “lI am going to write
you up,”id. T 115; (2) he “watch[ed] [Supervisor A] mistreat his foreign borweodkers,” and
was part of the group who complained in 2007 to Supervisor B about Supervisor A’'s abusive
behavior and race discriminatiad, 1 114, 119, 121; (3) following the Jacks tragédywas
assigned new cases resulting in a case backlog for which he was writteth“tireatened . .
with the possibility of termination,” even though his backlog “was similar to tbbetner
members of [the supervisor’s] unit, who had not been writtenidpf{ 12337 (undetthe
caption ‘Retaliatiori); and (4)McCall transferred out of CPS to a position with lower take-
home pay because believedhe would otherwise be terminated, 11 138-41. McCall
appears to remain employed at CFSA.

Plaintiffs Maria Dyson andKatherine Washington are 49 and 5§ears old,
respectively, black women, who both workedC4&S caseworksrundeithe same supervisor as
Peters and McCallld. 1 147, 164, 202, 209. They both claanialandage discrimination, a

hostile work environment and retaliation based upon allegations that (1) Dyson and Véashingt

% sypervisor C is James Campbell ang&uisor D is William Johnso Although theComplant provides no
specificrace or ethnic information about either supervigatoes indicate that “the only white supervisor in [CPS]”
was Supervisor ACompl.q1 88, 133, 13@7, 557.

" The First Amended Complaint stated that McCall had received atoiglue letter from the EEOGn November

2, 2009. First AmCompl., ECF No. 51 2 Subsequently, plaintiffs moved for leave to amend the First Antende
Complaint to correct this statement, indicating that Plaintiff McCall hadeeived the letter budbhas requested a
Rightto Sue letter and expects to receive one shortyCF No. 14, 1 3
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witnessed Supervisor A abusing foreign-born employees, including Peters; ‘fafsabused
as well,”id. 1 15461, 211-12(2) following the Jacks tragedy and the surge in new cases,
Dyson and Washington’s backlog of cases grew, resulting in Supervigotidg up “Ms.
Washington for having a backldggd. {1 171, 215, 225; (3) after Washington complained to
management and filed a grievance with the union against Supervisor A, Waskwagton
transferred to a new univhere she waagain written ug in early January, 2010, after
becoming a @intiff in this lawsuit,id. 11225-33; (4) Dyson complained to her supervisor
(“Supervisor E"}? that she was not being treated fa@fyer noticing that both “she and an older
Indian caseworkdin her groupjwere being assigned a lot more cases tham three ce
workers, oned¢f whom] was white and twaf whom]were younger.”ld. 1 176, 185, 187; (5)
in retaliation, Supervisor E wrote up Dyson for her backlog, accused her of abusiing®ver
and ordered an audit of her timesheets, prompting Digstvansferto a different group in late
20009. Id. 11 19294. Both Dyson and Washingtasppearto remain employed at CFSA.
2. Allegations of CFSA SupervisorPlaintiff s

Plaintiff Jacqueline Moore is a 66year old black woman of Trinidadian origin, who
was a CFSA supervisor from 1995 until her resignation in November, 2009, except for a one-
year period from February, 2008 until February, 2009, when she was detailed to workSas a CP
hotline caseworkerld. 11236, 242, 284-85, 311Shefiled a complaitwith the EEOC, which
issued a righte-sue letter on March 19, 201@Is’ Oppn. to Def.’s Mot. to Dismiss (“PIs.’
Mem.”), ECFNo. 22, at 11 Compl.{ 4. Mooreclaims racial ageand national origin

discrimination a hostile work environmeiaind retaliatiorbased upon allegations ti{a) from

12 sypervisr E is Martha Stewart, who ishite. Compl.{ 165.
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2000 to 2008, her black Program Administrator (“Supervisol’E&ngled [her] out for abusive
treatment,” since Moore was the “only black foreign born supervisor” theadldest supervisor

on [Supervisor B] staff,” by “isolat[ing]” her, excludindher from meetings, becongrihostile
when Ms. Moore made a comment,” never inviting her to lunch with the Program Adnbamistra
and the staff, making disparaging remarks about her in the presence of otHevshees,
screaming at her, and “regularly threaten[ing] to write up Misore,andon an occasion

[writing] up Ms. Moorefor ‘borderline insubordination,” Compily 24663; (2) from 2004 to
2008, her immediate supervisor (“Supervisor'&*vas openly abusive,” “screamed at Ms.
Moore during a meeting,” androte in an evalu#n that he gave her a poor job performance
evaluation because “Ms. Moore had filed complaints against him with human regoukcf
268-69, 280; (3) following the Jacks’ tragedy, Moore was the only supervisor demoted to
caseworker and detailed to CPS, where she received a “very good job performamatgoeval
and was “officially reinstated tilve position of supervisorjd. §284-92 (under caption
“Retaliationi); (4) for approximately three months in Spring 2009, when Supervisor D was her
immediatesupervisor, he was “abusive,” “regularly shouted at Ms. Moore in the presenae of he
staff,” and“threatened Ms. Moore with disciplinary actiomg: 1 297-300; and (5) following

an unapproved four month leave under the Family Medical Leave Act, Meo®vdred that

her staff and duties had been reassigned to a younger employee, who wasonafigef

308, 310. “Feeling that she would be officially terminated, Ms. Moore submitted her

resignation, effective January 1, 2010, in November 20G8.Y 311.

13 Supervisor F is Valerie Douglas, who is blackompl. 1 243, 245.
14 Supervisor G is Willie Tmpkins, about whom the Complaint provsdeospecificrace or ethnic information.

Compl. 267 As previously notedsupranote 10the Complaint indicates that the “only white supervisor in
[CPS]” was Supervisor Ald. 1557.
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Plaintiff Joan Simpsonis a 52year old black woman of Jamaican origin, who was a
CPS supervisor from 2005 until 2008, when she was “terminated as a result of the Jacks
tragedy.” Id. 11 315, 32-21, 325. Simpsolaims raciabnd national originidcriminationand a
hostile work environment based upon allegations that (1) management did not expressd polic
intolerance for the use of racial/ethnic slurs when, in 2005, a Nigerian employes African
American employee were suspended for hagipdpysical altercation during which the African
American employee called the Nigerian an “African monkey,” and other gegsdased facial
and ethnic slurs,” includingomplainingabout working for an Asian supervisat, 1333, 344-
48; (2) she witnessl Supervisor A engage in harsh treatment of Peters and Jamaican and
Nigerian caseworkerg]. 11 35269; (3) Simpson and Ekwem were the “only supervisors to be
regularly assigned more than five caseworkers,’ hieatcomplaints to Plaintiff Courglarshall
about the “disparity between the number of caseworkers assigned to her and Mr. Bdkwexira
American born counterpartsyere not remediedd. 19 380, 387, 390; (4) Supervisor B refused
to write a recommendation for Simpson although she did so fAsian coworker,id. { 396-
99; and (5) “[m]anagement petpatedthe myth that foreign social workers were only in it for
the money” by circulating a list of overtime earners, which'listluded foreign born social
workers; id. 1 406-14. In January, 2008, Simpson was terminated “in response to the Jacks
tragedy.” Id. 1 394.

Plaintiff Augustine Ekwem is a 52year old black man of Nigerian origin whad
worked as a CPS supervisor for five yearghe time the Second Amended Complaint was.filed
Id. 11 426, 432. Helaims racial gender, age and national origin discrimination and a hostile

work environment based upon allegations that (1) from 2004 to 2005, his white program
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administrator (“Supervisor H* “harassed” and “demeaned” hiid, 1470, 472; (2) following
the Jacksragedy, his workload increased significantly and, as the only Nigerian and oldest
supervisor in CPS, Ekwem was assigned more caseworkers “than any otheseupand both
he and Simpson were “regularly assigned more cagevsthan their American born
counterparts” as well as assigned the “problem employéesTY446, 452, 454-55, 467, 469,
473, 477-78; and (Fekwem expressecbncern to th®eputy Director of Operations
(“Supervisor 1")*° and his Program Manager (“Supervisor-33bout an overhelmed
caseworkeunder his supervision, bthis caseworkecontinued to be assigned additional cases,
including one in which a six month old boy died on June 25, ,2@88Iting in termination of the
caseworker and suspension of Ekwem for ten dey$1437, 440, 442, 445, 457, 462-64.
Ekwem appeato remain employed at CFSA.

Plaintiff Melva Meade is a 60year old black woman, who has been a CFSA training
supervisor assigned to CPS since 20@b 11 507, 510-511She clains racial discrimination
and hostile work environment based upon allegations that (1) “several black sociakyorke
particularly those from Africa and the Caribbean Islands, were mistriegtideir white
supervisors, including her observation of Supervisor H harassing Ekwem and other Nigerian
caseworkerdd. 1950203, 530-59 (2) management circulated a list of overtime earners, which
list included foreign born social workers, and would accuse people on the list ohgripibithe
system” and “stealingvertime,” andnanagement employeaher“aggressive tactics to

[discouraggthese social workers from claiming the full amount of overtime pay they had

15 Supervior H is HeatheBtowe, who isvhite. Compl. {1 328, 470, 528.

18 Supervisor | is Audrey Sutton, about whom the Complaint providesciad oa ethnic information. Compl.
442.

" Supervisor J is Michelle Farr, about whom the Complaint provides i@ ea@thnic information. Compf| 442.
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earned,’id. 11520-24; and (3)[b]lack foreign born social workers, especially Africans, were
stigmdized by these accusationg]. { 526. Meade appearo remain employed at CFSA.

Plaintiff Cynthia Courts -Marshall is a 46year old black woman, who served from
2002 to 2005 as a CFSA program manager and, in October, 2005, succeeded Supervisor H as the
program administrator in charge of CPS, until her termination in January, 2008 “dud&ckke
tragedy.” Id. 11 565, 568-71, 6442. She claims racial discrimination, hostile work
environment and retaliation, based upon allegations thalg[Ke'tutive management circulated
lists with the names of the top overtime earners,” “accused people on thenistd)'included
both American and foreign born social workers, of “stealing overtime,” arsdaesentment of
foreign born workers, particularly Atans,id. 1597-602; (2) in January, 2006, Supervisor
the Deputy Director of Operations, directed Colershallto terminate 15 employees,
including Plaintiffs Peters, McCall, Dyson and Ekwem, but Courts-Marsliafiee to comply,
since she “conclied that the individuals on the list were placed theredtaliatory reasons,
such axomplaining about [Supervisor H’s] discriminatory practicés,f{ 605, 608-09, 617-
18; and (3) Supervisor | “effectively transferred Ms. Coitashall’s decision mking
authority to [an Associate Deputy Director],” but refused to accept her offesitmyand
neverthelessubsequently terminated her “withauproper investigationjd. 1634-36, 642
(under captionRetaliatiori). In January, 2008, Courtdarshall was terminated “due to the
Jacks tragedy.’ld. § 641.
. LEGAL STANDARD

The defendant has moved to dismiss the Second Amended Complaint pursuant to Rule
12(b)(6) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedtaefailure to state a claim. In evaluating

whether a complaint sufficiently states a claim for relief to withstand a motionnesdisnder
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this Rule, the cournust first ascertain whether the complaint containstort and plain
statement of the claim showing that the pleader is entitled &f,rels well as grounds for the
court’s jurisdiction and the specific relief soughepFR. Civ. P.(8)(a). While “detailed factual
allegations” are not required, the complaint mgsté the defendant fair notice of what the.
claim is and the grounds upon which it rést8ell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly550 U.S. 544, 555
(2007)(internalcitation and quotation marks omittedge alscCiralsky v. CIA 355 F.3d 661,
668-71 (D.C. Cir. 2004)In assessing whether a complaint is sufficient, togirt ‘construpg
the complaint liberally in the plaintif favor, ‘ accept[ing] as tre all of the factual allegations
contained in the complairit. Aktieselskabet AF 2November 2001 v. Fame Jeah85 F.3d 8,
15 (D.C. Cir. 2008) (quotingassem v. Wash. Hosp. Ct613 F. 3d 251 (D.C. Cir. 2008pee
also Atherton vD.C. Office of theMayor, 567 F.3d 672, 681 (D.C. Cir. 2009).

Notably, ‘the tenet that a court must accept as true all of the allegations contained in a
complaint is inapplicable to legal conclusioridireadbare recitals of the elements of a cause of
action, supported by mere conclusory statements, do not suffgteal, 129 S. Ct. 1937, 1940.
Thus, the complaint must set forth more than “labels and conclusiohaformulaic recitation
of the elements of a cause of action,” &wbre than an unadorned, the-defendant-unlawfully-
harmedme accusation.'ld. (quotingTwombly 550 U.S. at 555 see alsdAktieselskabet AF 21.
November 21525 F.3dat17 n.4 (explaining that the court has “never accepted legal conclusions
cast in the form of factual allegatidipginternal citation and quotation marks omitted)

“To survive a motiorio dismiss the pleadings must suggest a plausible scettato
shows that the pleader is entitled to reliefones v. Horng634 F.3d 588, 595 (D.C. Cir. 2011)
(internal citation and quotations omittedg¢e alsdvey v. Fenty789 F. Supp. 2d 65, 68 (D.D.C.

2011)(*A claim is facially plausible wén the pleaded factual contedibws tre court to draw
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the reasonablmference that the defendant iddie for the misconduct alleged.”) (internal
citations and quotations marks omitted). The plausibility standard for pledehmgnds more
than that the factual allegations presetdlaeer possibility that a defendédnatsacted

unlawfully,” and requires &common sense,”contextspecific examination of the pleadings to
“determine whether they plausibly give risatoentitlement to reli€f. Igbal, 129 S. Ctat

1949; e alsoTwombly 550 U.S. at 5670 (antitrust complaint dismissed because allegations
of parallel conductgvenaccepted as true, were consistent with an unlawful agreement but also
compatible withand indeed more likely explained by, lawful, unchoreographediee&et
behavior and, therefore, did not plausibly suggest an unlawful agreef\&ftigre a complaint
pleads facts that are merely consistent with a defendant’s liability, it stopgostine line
between possibility and plausibility of entitlement to religijbal, 129 S. Ct. at 194&itation

and internal quotation marks omitted). Indeedgiatér the realm of plausible liabiljitythe
factual allegations must be more than merelytrad” or “suggestive,” and plaintiffs must
“[nudge] their claims across the line from conceivable to plausiblevombly 550 U.S. at 557
n.5, 570.

Consequently, wheevaluating whethes complaint sufficiently sets forth a plausible
claim for relief unler Rule 12(b)(6), the court must apply a two-pronged approach, which, first,
“identif[ies] pleadings that, because they are no more than conclusions, arettest tmthe
assumption of truth.’Igbal, 129 S. Ct. at 1950. Second, the court rexamire the factual
allegations and, assuming their veracity, “then determine whether theybplagige rise to an

entitlement to reliet. 1d. Absent factual mattgrermitting the court “to infeimore than the
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mere possibility of misconductt,the complaintmust be dismissedlones 634 F.3d at 596
(quotingAtherton 567 F.3dat 681-82."°

Viewing the claims in the light most favorable to plaintiffs, as it must at this stage of the
proceedings, the Court proceeds with a discussion of the plaintiffs’ claimdaagsfollThe Court
first addressesn section Ill,Plaintiff Ekwemnis claims which the Court concludes are barred by
the doctrine ofes judicata The Court then turns, in sectibh, to the defendant’s Motion to
Dismiss for the claims of the remangi eight plaintiffs. The Court addresses (A) the dismissal
of the Title VII and ADEA claims of five of the plaintiffs for failure to exhautth
administrative remedies. The Court ttasralyzeghe claims of the remaining plaintiffs, Peters,
McCall, ard Moore, addressing (B) their hostile work environment claims, (C) their dispara
treatment claims, an@) their retaliation claimsThe Court themeviews the plaintiffs’ (E)
constitutional claims under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 and 42 U.S.C. § a881F) Dstrict of Columbia
Human Rights claims. Finally, the Coednsiders, in section \the plaintiffs-intervenors’
Motions to Intervene. Since the Court concludes that all of the plaintiffs’ €laiensubject to

dismissal, and denies the plaintiffdervenors’ motions to intervene, the case must be dismissed.

181n support of a more lenient standard governing motions under Rule 12(#{8jiffs citeConley v. Gibson355
U.S. 41, 4546 (1957)seePls.” Mem. at 10but the Supreme Court h&abrogated th€onleyformulation in
[Twomby, 555 U.S. 544, 5683 (2007).” Jones v. Horng34 F.3d at 596.4; see generallArthur R. Miller,
From Conley to Twombly to Igbal: A Double Play on the Federal Rules of Civil ProgeslD&/KE L. J.1(2010)
(cited inJones 634 F.3d at 596 n.4)Xven if the Courtverenot precluded by Supreme Court precedeiliral
andTwomblyfrom adopting a more lenient standard, the plaintiffs’ claims would stiisrmissed. This is not a
situation where the Court is dismissing a case because plaintiffs dtaveamsufficiently specificin their
Complaint. In this case, the plaintiffs have pled their claims in suelil theat it is possible for the Court to
determine that the plaintiffs cannot possibly prevail on their clainhgreTis thus no reasondatiow the plaintiffs to
proceed beyond this stage of the proceedings, as no amount of elaboratéeplairtiffs’ claims would allow the
plaintiffs to prevail on the merits of their claims. As the Supremet@autioned iffwombly “when the
allegatbns in a complaint, however true, could not raise a claim of entitlement to tléiebasic deficiency should
be exposed at the point of minimum expenditure of time and money pwgiiies and the court.550 U.S. at 558
(internal citation, quotation marks and ellipsis omitted).
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[I. The Claims of Plaintiff Ekwem Are Barred by Res Judicata

The Court first turns to Plaintiff Ekwem'’s claimshd defendant contends that the
claims asserted by PlaintéfugustineEkwemshould be dismissed because hegisedfrom
asserting themnder the doctrine ats judicata. Indeed Ekwemconcedes that he was an
individual plaintiff in a separate lawsuit previously filed in this Court arisiaigof his
employment at CFSAPIs! Mem. at 26. His prior lawsuit wadismissed with prejudickess
than two months before joining this suit, on December 10, 2608 plaintifiin the First
Amended ComplaintSee Ekwem ¥enty, 666 F. Supp. 2d 71, 81 (D.D.C. 20@9Jhe Court
dismisses platiff’s federal claims because he has failed to state a claim for which relief can be
grantedand] declines to exercise supplemental jurisdiction and dismisses plaistdte law
claims without prejudicé). For the reasons discussed below, Ekwedaiims are barred under
the doctrine of claim preclusion ogs judicata Taylor v. Sturge]l553 U.S. 880, 892 (2008).

A. Legal Standard

“The doctrine ofes judicataprevents repetitious litigation involving the same causes of
action or the samessues. Sheppard v. District of Columhia91 F. Supp. 2d 1, 4 (D.D.C.
2011) €iting I.A.M. Natl Pension Fund v. Indus. Gear Mfg. C823 F.2d 944, 946 (D.C. Cir.
1983)). Under claim preclusion, a subsequent lawsuit will be barred if there has been pri
litigation (1) involving the same claims or cause of action, (2) between thepsati@s or their
privies, and (3) there has been a final, valid judgment on the merits, (4) by a campaitent
jurisdiction. See Porter v. Shab06 F.3d 809, 81@.C. Cir. 2010);Smalls v. United States
471 F.3d 186, 192 (D.C. Cir. 200@jting Blonder-Tongue Labs., Inc. v. Univ. of Ill. Found.
402 U.S. 313, 323-24 (197K omnir of Internal Revenue v. Sunn&33 U.S. 591, 597 (1948))

Herrion v. Childrens Hosp Nat| Med. Ctr, 786 F. Supp. 2d 359, 368 (D.D.C. 2011).
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Moreover, a “final judgment on the merits of an action precludes the parties or their
privies from relitigating issues thatere orcould have been raised that action” Drake v.
FAA, 291 F.3d 59, 66 (D.C. Cir. 2002) (quotiatien v. McCurry 449 U.S. 90, 94 (1980))
(emphasis in originalgee alsdnt’| Union v. Clark No. 02-1484, 2006 U.S. Dist. LEXIS
64449, at *46 n.19 (D.D.C. Sept. 11, 2004)] (idividual who did properly exhaust his
administrative remedies. .is nevertheless barred from maintaining his Rehabilitation Act claim
in this case because he litigated that claim to a judgment on the merits in [anotner]. cibe
doctrine ofres judicatatherefore applies to [that phiff] 's claim and requires dismissal of his
claim?). There is no question here that the third and fourth prongs have been met since
Ekwem'’s prior lawsuit was dismissed in a final judgment on the merits by anotherfyoth
this Court. Thus, only the first and second factors for applicatitmeoés judicatadoctrine
need be addressed.

B. Analysis

In his dismissed complaint, Ekwem claimeder alia, that the defendants — the Mayor
of the District of Columbia and CFSA- allegedly discriminatg against him in violation of his
right to equal protection under the Fifth Amendment, and conspired to deprive him of those
rights in violation of 42 U.S.C. 881983, 1985, 1986 and 1988. Ekwem concedes that both of his
lawsuits”allege employment discrimation at theCFSA],” but argues thahe first prong
required for applicatioof res judicatais not met. Pls.” Mem. at 26pecifically, he contends
that his current @mplaint differs from the dismissed claims in two ways: first, the instant
Complaint focusson “a hostile work environment claim undetid@ VII, § 1981, ADEA, and

DCHRA;” and second, the instant Complaadsens different facts regarding tHeonstructive
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termination$ of co-workers in November 2009 that were not in existend¢keatme of his prior
lawsuit. 1d.

The fact that the causef action here areot identical to the causef action in the prior
suit, however, does not overcome application oféisgudicatadoctrine to bar Ekwes’claims.
“Whether two cases implicate the same cause of action turns on whether theyesbameeth
‘nucleus of facts.” Apotex, Inc. VEDA, 393 F.3d 210, 217 (D.C. Cir. 2004) (quotDrake,

291 F.3d at 66 Page v. United Stateg29 F.2d 818, 820 (D.C. Cir. 1984). The factual
allegations nderpinning Ekwens current claims mirror those in thesmissedaction. In the
dismissed action, for example, Ekwem alleged that he was unfairly assigoedravhelming
number of cases to supervise in 2008 and that he was improperly disciplinedeadkeatth of a
child whose case had been assigned to a caseworker under£&wmarvision.Ekwem 666 F.
Supp. 2cat 7475. He asserts the same allegations in the instant comptaimely that his
workload increased significantly in 2008 ahatby June of 2008, he had been assigned more
caseworkrs than any other supervisor. Compl. § 446, 452. The insiamnl@intalso avers
thata caseworker under Ekwem'’s supervisias assigned a child abuse and neglect case
“which concluded on June 25, 2008 with the death of a six month old kehy J 457.
According to thésecond Amende@omplaint the caseworker was terminataad on July 9,
2008,Ekwem was placed on administrative leale. 1 462-63. Based on this conduct, he
allegeghatthe CFSA dscriminated against himmn the basis of higéce (blak), national origin
(Nigerian),age (52) and gender (malg) Id.  426.

Underres judicata a final judgment on the merits of an action precludes the parties or
their privies from relitigating isss thatwereor could have been raised that action. In this

action, Ekwem reasserts claims of discrimination that have been previouslgdien the
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merits, and a new claim tfiostile work environmentthat arises from the same factual basis
and thus could have been brought in his prior lawdbéspite the differences in legal theories,
both actionsadvanced by Ekwem relate largely to the same time periotuamdnallegations
thatEkwemwas unfairly assigned too mangse and too many caseworkers to supervise, which
resulted in him being improperly suspenddthe claims he asserts here could have been brought
in that action and, having skipped that opportunity, he is not allowed to assert théth here.
Finally, as to the last factdahe partiesn the dismissed lawsudtre the same parties in
this litigation. In the prior action, Ekwem named Adrian Fenty, in his official capacity a®May
of the District of Columbia, and tHeFSA as defendantsSee Ekwen666 F. Supp. 2d at 74.
The real partyn interest for the Mayor and CFSA in the dismissed lawsuit was the District,
which is the same defendant as in the instant acB@eSheppard791 F. Supp. 2dt7 n.6
(“Claims against the Mayor of the District of Columbia in his official capacitgamnstrued as
claims against the District itsélf (citing Atchinson v. District of Columhia@3 F.3d 418, 424
(D.C. Cir. 1996);, Waker v. Brown754 F. Supp2d 62, 65 (D.D.C. 201Qpubstituting the
District of Columbia in place of mayor, police chiefiddDepartment of Corrections);
Henneghan v. D.C. Pub. ScHs97 F. Supp. 2d 34, 3D.D.C. 2009) (substituting th@istrict of
Columbia for DCPS).
In sum, Ekwens instant claims are against the same party, the District of Columbia,
involve the same coffactual allegations, the same discrimination claims, and new claims that

could have been raised in the prior dismissed acfldnus, his claims are lrad byres judicata

¥ The claims asserted tiye movant plaintifintervena Patricialvey are likelyalso barred byes judicatasince her
prior discrimination lawsuit against the defendant agisiom her employment as@PS caseworker has also been
dismissed.Seelvey v. Fenty789 F.Supp. 2d 65 (D.D.CQ011)(plaintiff’s age discrimination suit for violation of
Due Process and Equal Protection Clauses of the Fifth Amendment tdth@dustitution42 U.S.C. § 1983,
dismissed for failuréo state a claim)Since the parties have not briefed this issue, however, and her motion to
intervene is resolved on different grounds, the Coeetdnot address this issue.
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andaretherefore dismissed.

V. DEFENDANT’S MOTION TO DISMISS DISCRIMINATION CLAIM S OF THE
REMAINING EIGHT PLAINTIFFS

The defendant has moved, pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) of thex&idrules of Civil
Procedure, to dismiss the claims of the remaining eight plaintiffs on grduaidirst, the
plaintiffs’ statutory claims under Title Vand the ADEA are barrefr failure to exhaust
administrative remedies; and second, the allegations of discriminationyimglénle plaintiffs
Title VI, ADEA, 42 U.S.C. 881981 and 1983, and DCH&a&imsare insufficient either under
the McDonnellbouglas framework or to demonstrate the requisite custom or policy of the
District of Columbia to establish municipal liability. These arguments are aédsssiatim
below, assuiimg the truth of the plaintiffs’ allegatioras the Court must do at the 1Z@))stage
of proceedings.

A. Dismissal of Title VIl and ADEA Claims of Five Plaintiffs For Failure to
Exhaust Administrative Remedies

The defendant arguésr dismissal otheTitle VII and ADEA claimsin the Second
Amended Complaintexcept the claimasserted by Peters, as untimely due tddlheare to
exhaust administrative remediddef.’'s Mem.at 11. At the time of filing th&econd Amended
Complaintonly Peters had received a RigbtSue letter from th&qual Employment
Opportunity Commission EEOC'), even though both McCall and Moore had also filed EEOC
complaints Compl. {1 2-4Both McCall andvioore subsequently received their righisue
letters on March 19 and August 26, 2010, respectively. Pls.” M, 28; Pls.” EEOC Daocs,

ECF No. 30-2%°

% |n order to insure the completeness of the record regarding the stitteptdintifis EEOC filings, the Court
directed the plaintiffs to subniitopies of any charge filed by a plaintiff or applicant for interventiagh the
EEOCthat is related to the allegations in the Second Amended Complaint [andny resultingight-to-sue letter
issued by the EEOT.Minute Order (Decl19, 201). In response, the plaintiffs submitted the EEOC charges filed
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The defendant does not addrdssimpact of receigdy McCall and Moore of their
EEOC rightto-sue lettes after the filing of this lawsuitInstead, the defendant analyzes the
claims of these two plaintiffs as part of the group of plaintff® filed no complaint with the
EEOC (“nonfiling plaintiffs”), and argues that the Title VIl and ADEA claims of all eight of
these plaintiffs should be dismissed for failure to exhaust administrative rerbetee filing
suit. The plaintiffs contend #hany non-filing plaintiff may rely on “vicarious exhaustion” to
assert his or her discrimination claims here. The defendant counterthéhdiverse and varied
nature”of the plaintiffs claims precluds the availability of vicarious exhaustion to ege the
failure to exhaust administrative remedie®ef.’s Reply Mem. in Supp. of Mot. to Dismiss
(“Def.’s Reply”), ECF No. 23, at 1. The Court agrees in partchsagreesn part. Specifically,
as explained below, while the Court finds that McCall and Moore have timely exthéusite
administrative remedies, the néiling plaintiffs may not “piggyback” on the administrative

exhaustion by three of the plaintiffs.

by Plaintiffs Peters, Moore and McCall, as well as copies of thetiogge letters issued by the EEOC to each of
theseplaintiffs. PIs' EEOC Docs, ECF No. 30The plaintiffs indicated that three unidentified proposed intervenors
had filed EEOC complaints and one (Fedelia Phillips) had received aaighe letter.ld. at 1. While a court may
not consider “mattersutside the pleadings” in evaluatingrtion to dismiss under Rule 12(b){@xhout

converting the motion tone forsummary judgment under Rule,5#eFeD. R. Civ. P. 12(d), documents that are
referenced in, or an integral part of, the complaint are dderat “outside the pleadingsMead v. LindlawNo.
11-1063, 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 33225, at ¢3.D.C. Mar. 13, 2012{*In deciding a Rule 12(b))énotion, a court
may consider the facts alleged in the complaint, documents attached atssexhitorpratedby reference in the
complaint, or documents upon which the plaifgifomplaint necessarily relies even if the document is produced
not by [the parties].”) (internal quotations and citations omittiddjton v. Corr. Corp. of Am624 F. Supp. 2d%

46 (D.D.C. 2009) In this case, the EEOC charges filed by Peters, McCall and Moore are refereneed in th
Complaint andherefore may be considered, along with the EEOC-tigktie letterswithout converting this

motion into one for summary judgmerieeWard v. D.C. Defi of Youth Rehab. Sery§68 F. Supp. 2d 117, 120
n.2(D.D.C. 2011)Xwhere [t]he charge of discriminatiois referred to in the complaint . . . , a reference that also
necessarily incorporates in the complaint the letter of detatimimresulting from the charge .the complaint
necessarily relies upon the fact of the charge and the letter in pleading thadstdtive proceedings were pursued
before this action was begun [and] the motion need not be converted ta samfoay judgment’) ; Hamilton v.
Rhee 770 F. Supp. 2d 241, 244 n.2 (D.D.C. 2011) (noting that EEOC chaegeincorporated by reference in the
plaintiff’s complaint, and the court properly consideesipart of a motion to dismigs”

Page 22 of 94



1. Purpose of the Exhaustion Requirement

Generally, exhaustion of administratiremedies by filing a charge of discrimination
with the EEOC is required before a plaintiff may bring a civil suit under TitleoVthe ADEA.
See, e.gMcDonnell Douglas Corp. v. GregAll U.S. 792, 798 (1973)nited Air Lines, Inc.
v. Evans431 U.S. 553, 555 n.4 (197T%)ashington v. Wash. Metro. Area Transit Aullt0
F.3d 750, 752 (D.C. i€ 1998)(“Before. . . suing under either the ADEA or Title VII, an
aggrieved party must exhduss administrative remedies . ) ; McKeithan v. Boarmar803 F.
Supp. 2d 63, n.3 (D.D.C. 201 Bee als®9 U.S.C. § 626(d)(1); 42 U.S.C. § 20CRE1). “The
purpose of the [administrative exhaustion] doctrine is to afford the agency anuoytydd
resolve the matter internally and to avoid unnecessarily burdening the cdtis.v.
Bernanke 630 F.3d 1031, 103®D.C. Cir. 2011) (quoting/Vilson v. Pena79 F.3d 154, 165
(D.C. Cir. 1996)). Ordinarily, as proof of such exhaustion of administrative remadéntiff
would receive a righto-sue letter from the EEOC, indicating either the EEOdismissal of the
caseor its inability to bring a civil action within 180 days of the plainESfEEOC charge4?2
U.S.C. § 2000&(f)(1); see alsd?ark v. Howard Uniy, 71 F.3d 904, 907 (D.C. Cir. 1995)
(“Only after the EEOC has notified the aggrieved person of its decsidisriss or its inability
to bring a civil action within the requisite time period can that person bring a dieihac
herself”); Currier v. Radio Free Europe/Radio Liberty, In&59 F.3d 1363, 1366 (D.C. Cir.
1998);Adams v. District of Columbj&40 F. Supp. 2d 173, 186 (D.D.C. 2010). Thus, receipt of
a notice of righto-sue letter is a condition precedent to the initiation of a Title VIl or ADEA
action in court.See Williams v. Wash. Metro. Area Transit Auf2l F.2d 1412, 1418 n.12

(D.C. Cir. 1983)Bondy v. Humana, IncNo. 95-456, 1996 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 10035, at *10
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(D.D.C. 1996) see also Tlush v. . Res. Ctr, 315 F. Supp. 2d 650, 655 (E.D. Pa. 2002)
(receiptof right-to-sue letter from the EEOC is a condition precedent to filing a Vlitlelaim).

2. Plaintiffs Peters, McCall and Moorés Title VIl and ADEA Claims
Meet Exhaustion Requirement

At the outset, the defendant does not challenge Peters’ claims under Tilethal
ADEA for failure to exhaust administrative remedies sifeereceived her EEOC right-sue
letters on March 2, 2010, after the filing of the original and First Amended @orpin
October 28, 2009 and December 10, 2009, respectively, but before the filing of the Second
Amended Complaint on March 16, 2010. Compl. RI&; EEOC Docs, ECF No. 30-1. Moore
“received her Right to Sue Letter on March 19, 20a@gr the filing ofboth the First Amended
Complaint, when Moore first joined the action as a plaintiff, and the Second Amended
Complaint. PIsS Mem.at 11, 28; Compl. 1 4PIs’ EEOC Docs ECF No. 363. McCall
received higight-to-sue letters from the EEOIGr both hisTitle VII andADEA claimson
August 26, 2010after thefiling of all three complaints. Compf. 3. Pls’ EEOC Docs ECF
No. 30-2.

The law is clear thathe defect of a prematurely filed lawsuit may be excused when it is
cured by the issuance of a right to sue letter while the action is pendingzPacker v. Digtict
of Columbia 539 F. Supp. 2d 181, 190 (D.D.C. 2008)ing Williams, 721 F.2cat1418 n.12.
Thus, defendarg’ exhausbn argument is mootsstoMooreand McCall SeeFennell v. AARP
770 F. Supp. 2d 118, 126 (D.D.C. 20{tption to dismiss for failure to exhaust administrative
remedies denied where plaintiff received EEOC rigkgue letter during pendency of lawsyit)
Giardino v. Distict of Columbia 252 F.R.D. 18, 20 (D.D.C. 2008Because the EEOC. .
issued a righte-sue letter prior to the dismissal of his federal employment claims, those claims

will not now be dismissed.”Holmes v. PHI Serv. Co437 F. Supp. 2d 110, 123 (D.D.C. 2006)
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(“[T] he plaintiff s failure to exhaust her administrative remedies before bringing this action was
cured when the EEOC issued its second rigigue letter to the plaintiff. .encompassing her
retaliatory discharge claift); see alsdHunter v. D.C. Child & Family Servs. Agen@io F.
Supp. 2d 152, 157 (D.D.C. 2010) (where plairfaffed to allege recept of right-to-sue letter but
District did not contest that plaintifeceived the EEOC letter after the filing of the complaint,
District’ s “exhaustion argument is deemed abandopeAtcordingly, to the extent that the
defendants motion to disnss for failure teexhaust administrative remedissntended to reach
Moore and McCall, the motion is unavailing on this ground.
3. No Vicarious Exhaustion for Five NonFiling Plaintiffs

The remaining five plaintiffs (Dyson, Washington, Meade, Simpson, and Courts-
Marshall) have concededly not previously filed any complaints with the EEOfltedtee
requirementhat all employment discrimination claims be initially and timely filed with the
EEOC prior to pursuing relief in court. These five plaintiffs rely ugen“singlefiling”
exception to the normal rule to urge the Court to allow them to “pigagy”’ on Peters’ perfected
charge and, presumably, the now perfected charfgds®all and Moore?> Thesinglefiling
exception‘allows nonfiling parties to join the suit of another similarly situated plaintiff who did
file an administrative complaint against the same deferid&mboks v. Dist. Hosp. Partners,

L.P., 606 F.3d 800, 804 (D.C. Cir. 2010}tifeg Foster v. Gueory655 F.2d 1319, 1322 (D.C.

%L The Court is cogizant that because failure to exhaust administrative remedies is aratiffirmefense, a plaintiff
doesnotneed toplead exhaustion ia complaint Kim v. United State$32 F.3d 713, 719 (D.C. Cir. 201Qolbert
v. Potter 471 F.3d 158, 165 (D.C. Cir. 2006)his means that the defendant bears the burden of pleading and
proving untimely exhaustionRosier v. HolderNo. 13525, 2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 67527, &-7 (D.D.C. June

24, 2011) (citingdowden v. United State$06 F.3d 433, 437 (D.C. Cit997)). When, however, in response to a
motion to dismiss, plaintiffs, such as the ones at bar, concede that they didhaust their administrative remedies
and proffer a legal theory to excuse that failure, the court may assess {lity vithat theory on a 12(b)(6)
motion. SeeUzlyan v. Solis706 F. Supp. 2d 44, 53 (D.D.C. 2018halyzing under Rule 12(b)(6) plaintif
claimed”basis upon which the exhaustion requirements should be Wgigee alsaThompson v. DEA92 F.3d
428, 438 (D.C. @i 2007) (Further, even when failure to exhaust is treated as an affirmative defenag,lie
invoked in a Rule 12(b)(6) motion if the complaint somehow reveals theustion defense on its fate.
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Cir. 1981)) see alsdByrd v. District of Columbig807 F. Supp. 2d. 37, 59 (D.D.C. 2011)
(“Under specific circumstances, a domay alternatively apply the ‘single filing exceptioo
allow a plaintiff who failed to adhere to administrative requirements to vic#yiexbaust her
filing responsibilities via another plaintiff timely filed EEOC claini) (quotingBrooks 606

F.2d at 807). This exception is only available to fiong parties, howeveif they possess
claims that aréso similar to those asserted by the original plaittidt no purpose would be
served by requiring them to file independent chatgésk.at 63(internal citations and quotation
marksomitted); €e dso Price v. Choctaw Glove & Safety Cd59 F.3d 595, 599 (5th Cir.
2006)(claims dismissed of plaintiff members of decertified class who had not filed
administrative charges singa] non-charging party cannot bring her own independent lawsuit
based upon another padycharg€.); Horton v. Jackson County Bd. of County Congn843

F.3d 897, 900-01 (7th Cir. 200®ingle filing rule not applicable to plaintiff, who was allegedly
retaliated against for supporting the discrimination suit gblemtiff who filed administrative
charge, since despite the connection between them, different acts were behmutythéthe

two plaintiffs).

In Cook v. Boorstin763 F.2d 1462 (D.C. Cir. 1985), which is relied upon by plaintiffs,
seePls.” Mem. at 10the cout explained that te critical factor in determining whether an
individual Title VII plaintiff must file an [administrative] charge, or whether he escape this
requirement by joining with another plaintiff who has filed such a charge, isiiargy of the
two plaintiffS complaints: Cook 763 F.2d at 1466 (internal quotation marks omitted). In
assessing the similarity of claims, the court provided a practical test, explduatrifv]here the
two claims are so similar that it céairly besaidthat no conciliatory purpose would be served

by filing separate [administrative] charges, then it would be wasteful, famot . . to require
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separate . .filings.” Id. (quotingFoster, 655 F. 2d at 1332) (internal quotations omittethe
court caitioned, howevetthat “where the two complaints differ to the extent that theaerésl
possibility that one of the claims might be administratively settled while the other can be
resolved only by the courts . . . each plaintiff should be requiregptoaely file. . . [a]charge
in order to effectuate the purpose of Title gIprovisions for administrative reliéfld. (internal
emphasis omittedyee alscDe Medina v. Reinhard686 F.2d 997, 1012 (D.C. Cir. 1982)
(reversingdistrict courts dismssal ofintervenors claimupon finding that her claim was so
similar to that made bjplaintiff], who had filed an EEOC charge that it can fairly be said
that no conciliatory purpose would be served by filing separate EEOC chaiyes, 807 F.
Supp. 2d at 63 T'he similarity of two claims is evaluated for whether the original filing
performs the principal notice function of the EEOC filing requirement, thus regdesecond
filing by a similarly situated plaintiff unnecessary and wastgfuMoore v. Chertoff437 F.
Supp. 2d 156, 163 (D.D.C. 2006) (“A plaintiff may invoke the doctrine of vicarious exhaustion
only if one plaintiff actually has exhausted brsherclaims and if the exhausted claims are so
similar to the unexhausted claims.”); Int’'| Union v. Clark No. 02-1484, 2006 U.S. Dist.
LEXIS 64449, at *37 (D.D.C. Sept. 11, 2006)ilure of some plaintiffs to exhaust their
administrative remediavay be excusedsd long[as] one of their co-plaintiffs has pregdy
exhausted a clainiat is so similar that it can fairly be said that no conciliatory purpose would
be served by filing sepate [administrative complaints]}.

As noted above, the exhaustion requirement serves the dual purpose of notice to the
employerof the chargeind an opportunity for both the employer and the EE©D$2ttle the
dispute. For this reason, in cases where the single-filing doctrine has beerml jrooakés have

examined the original EEOC filing of the party with the perfected EEOC eltargvaluate
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whetter it provided sufficient notice of all charges by the plaintiffs who claim wrhaarly
situatedand seek to “piggypack” on that charge. Recent cases from this jurisdiction are
instructive in evaluating the similarity of claims for employment discrimination datiat®on to
support application of the single-filing exception. For examplByaoks v. Dist. Hosp.

Partners, L.P.the D.C. Circuit found that the district court had improperly dismissed claims
asserted by external applicants for nurasgistant positions for lack of administrative
exhaustion. 606 F.3d at 807. The court concluded those external applicants could “piggy back”
on the perfected EEOC charge filed by an internal applicant since examinatiah BEOC

charge showed thatridised the same race discrimination claim as the external applicants, was
asserted on behalf of others similarly situated, and the EEOC’s investigatiewed data

related to both internal and external applicants to find a disparate impdetkrténdidates

from the employer’s use of a new thugart screening tesid. Thus, the court held that an
independent EEOC filing by the external applicants “would have been redundaninftioyer]
already had received adequate notice of appsllaract degation and the EEOC had first

crack at resolving that allegationldl. In suchcircumstances, wheraultiple plaintiffs claims
arose from the same allegedligcriminatory practicpresented to and analyzed by the EEOC,
the court found that the plaifis had “properly invoked the singlling exception to join the

lawsuit . . . ." 1d.?

2 Courts in other jurisdictions have apparently limited application of tigdesiiling exception to circumstances
where the party with the perfected administrative charge had noted the welteatiassvide nature of the claim in
the EEOC charge of discriminatioseeWelch v. Eli Lilly & Co, No. 060641, 2009 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 70389, at
*10-12 (S.D.Ind. Aug. 11, 2009)see alsdPrice v. Choctaw Glove & Safety Co., In¢59 F.3d 595, 599 (5th Cir.
2006) (finding that a party invoking the single filing rule must estabtiah the plaintiff is similarly situated to the
person who filed the EEOC charge; the charge provided some notice of dmtiwelbr classction nature of the
charge; and the individual who filed the EEOC charge filed a suit thaigggbacking plaintiff may join);
Anderson v. Mntgomery Ward & Co 852 F.2dL008, 101617 (7th Cir. 1988Jfinding that employees subject to
same discriminatory practice were not required to file timely charges witBE®C so long as similarly situated
employees filed allegations of clagsde discimination); Greene v. City of Bostp204 F. Supp. 2d 239, 241 (D.
Mass. 2002) (finding thdisimilarly situated plaintiffs, who have failed to file administrative gkear or who have
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The district court irByrdv. District of Columbiareached a different resulin that Title
VII lawsuit, four plaintiff-employeeslleged sexual harassment an@liation by two male
supervisors at the D.C. Department of Parks and Recred@iod, 807 F. Supp. 2d at 4% hief
Judge Lamberth reviewed the original EEOC charge and a supporting internasujoitted
to the EEOC to determine whetheplaintiff, who never flecanEEOC complaint before joining
the lawsuif waspermitted td‘piggy-back on her ceplaintiffs’ perfected administrative
complaints.ld. at 63. Despite certain similarities of legal claims and “overlapping” facts
between the EEOC charged the factual allegations asserted by the plaintiff, Chief Judge
Lamberth concluded that the plaintiff's complaint would require “a differetuil inquiry and
testimony from different witnesses,” and therefore would not put the defendanianoithe
extent of the plaintiff's allegations or potential hostile work environment anichteta claims.

Id. at64. As a consequence, the court dismissed that plaintiff's Title VIl clainfaifore to
comply with the administrative requirementsd.

The Court finds that the legal and factual issues at stake in the instant mattereare mor
akin to those iByrd, where the cort determined vicarious exhaustion wasvaiiable than in
Brooks. The Second Amended Complaint summarily mentions that Pete@alMand Moore
filed charges with the EEOC, without any description of the precise fadegh@bns presented
to that agency. No party to the instant action provided the Court with a cdpyads regarding
the contents athese perfecteBEOC darges in order to assess the sufficiency of notice about
the discrimination allegationsintil the Court so directedn its briefing, tle defendantelies
solelyon a comparison of factual allegations and legal claims asserted by thépiaithe

Secomn Amended Complaint to show that they are so “diverse and varied” and raviderg”

filed untimely charges, are permitted to piggyback on a titfilelgt charge that gives the EEOC and the employer
fair notice of allegations of clasgide discriminatiori.).
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that “separate administrative adjudication was not only possible, but neced3afys’ Replyat
3. In the defendant’s view, the five néhrg plaintiffs (Dyson, Washington, Simpson, Meade
and CourtsMarshal) ** may not piggyback on the administratively exhausted claims because
these plaintiffs allege different bases for discrimination and different kihaéstreatment by
different supervisors. Def.’s Mem. at 11-T3f.’s Reply at 34. The Court agrees.

Thelegalclaims ofthe fivenon{iling plaintiffs are notdenticalto thoseasserted by
McCall, Moore, and Peters in the Second Amended Complaint or in their perfected EEOC
charges.In the Second Amended Complaitite three filing plaintiffs each assert claimsaxfe
discrimination,hostile work environment and retaliation, and both Moore and Peters also assert
claims ofage andhon-American bormational origin discriminatiarall of which were stated in
theirrespective EEOC charges. While each of thefilmg plaintiffs assert legal claims of race
discrimination andhostile work environmemwithin CPS during all or part of the same time
period from 2005 to 2009, only one (Simpson) claims national origarichination, two
(Washington and Dyson) claim age discrimination fanul (claim retaliation. Thus, the non-
filing plaintiffs provide different combinations of protected status for ttiscrimination claims
than thosencluded in the perfected EEOC charges of Peters, Mc@alIMoore

The differences in their legal claims undercut each otReters and Moore’s EEOC
charges assert age and national origin discrimination based upon the allegederssid more
work and the alleged harsher scrutiny given to older,Amoerican born black caseworkers and
supervisors.More precisely, Peters states in her EEOC charge that black caseworkers and
supervisors, who are “age 40 and over, andAmerican born are systematically assigned more

work and subjected to harsher scrutiny than others who are not in these cate@isieEEOC

% The claims of Plaintiff Ekwem are barred by the doctrineesfjudicata seesupra and therefore are not
discussed in this section of the opinion.
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Docs., No. 30-1, at IMoore indicates in her EEOC charge that she has “been subjected to
differential treatment as compared to my {iomidadian co-workers,” including thafter a
leave, shédiscover[ed] that a younger, Black American had been hired to fill [her]iposit
Pls. EEOC Docs., ECF No. 30-3, atYet, despite their EEOC charges of age discrimination,
which are repeated in the Second Amended Compthnegof the nonfiling plaintiffs (Meade,
Simpson, and Courts-Marshall) are 40 or older but do not allege any age discrimination.
Furthermoredespite the EEOC charges by Peters and Moore of national origin discrominati
against non-American born black employees, McCall and four of thélmznplaintiffs

(Dyson, Washington, Meade, Coultiarshall) do not fit into theategory of “norAmerican
born” and still claim that they, too, were discriminated against because they weré*black.

The differences in theattual allegations pertaining to each plaintiff's claims also
undercut each other. For example, notably, Moore was one of four supervisors detailed to CPS
to assist with theurge in cases after the Jatlegedy, and despite her “humiliat[ion] by her
denvotion to hotline caseworker,” she “received compliments on her work and a very good job
performance evaluation,” after which she was “officially reinstated tpalséion of supervisor
and given a staff.” Compl. 11 285-92. Moore’s positive experience is difficult to sgilarthe
allegations of race, age and national origin discrimination directed at CPSdessnalleged
by herco-plaintiffs. The Second Amended Complaint further undermines this core racial and
national origin discrimination claim with inconsistent allegations that employees wkeaater
black also suffered discriminatory actiorfsee, e.gid. 1 17688 (Dyson) (Indian cavorker

also assigned more cases thamhite,” “younger” ceworkers);id. { 37 (Peters) (Supervisor A

24 While Moore’s EEOC charge identifies the younger employee who assMom'’s position as “Black
American,” theSecond Amende@omplaint identifies that employee as “newly hired,” “younger” and “eativ
born,” omitting the fact thathe employee was also blackompl. 1 308.
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“bullied” white caseworkers). As the defendant observes, “the individualiffiiatlegations
are so varied that they even contradict themselv@sf’s Reply Mem. at 3.

Although the norfiling plaintiffs’ legal claims overlap with those of the perfected EEO
charges, this is not enough to excuse the bypassing of the administrative prottessseftve
plaintiffs when the underlying factual allegations for each of their clainfer giignificantly.

The singlefiling doctrine is limited to cases in whichettregal claims are identical and arise
from the same facts, not merely from overlapping or similar facts that may bd tmleach
otherbecause the facts involve employees of the same agémbged, yist because the plaintiffs
claim to fave suffered aiolation of one or more of the same provisiofh$aw as contained in
the perfected EEOC chargédses not mean that their claims depend upsimaaedset of facts or
a commonnjury that would have provided notice of the individual claims. Urikaoks

where not only the legal claims were identical but also the factual allegatiorstsupthose
claims stemmed from the employer’s use of the same challenged hiring piRaeters, McCall
and Moorés perfected administrative charges each allege didaotual events that not only
differ among themselves but also from those of the fivefiiog-plaintiffs.

Among the myriad ways in which the allegations asserted by thélmgnplaintiffs in
the Second Amended Complaint differ from the facts set forth in the EEOC chbegdxy
McCall, Moore and Peters are that different management personnel were rdegdonsite
discriminatory conduct at issue.h@ EEOC bhargesof both Peters and McCall cite allegedly
unfair conduct onlyy Supervisor A and Moore cites such conduct only by Supervisor F. In the
Second Amended Complaint, Moore also describes allegedly abusive conduct by Sug@rvisors
and G. The noffiting plaintiffs complain about entirelgtifferent supervisorsNonfiling

plaintiffs Dyson, Simpson, Meade and Courts-Marshall complain about conduct by Sanservis
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B, E, H and I, who are nowhere complained albyuPeters, McCall or Mooreither in the
Complaint or in the perfected EEOC charges.

In addition, the alleged misconduct engaged in by Supervisors A through | towards the
nondiling plaintiffs varies significantly from the specific conduct alleged in théepted EEOC
charges. McCall's EEOC charge refers to a single instance of Supervisand\lgiw a critical
written performance wanng in July, 2009while Peters’ EEOC charge statbsit thesame
Supervisor A “singled [her] out” and “on at least four occasionatle formal writeups about
Petersperformance, even though similarly situated employees, who were younger aad whi
werenot writterrup. Pls’ EEOC Docs.,at ECF N@. 30-1, 30-2. In the Second Amended
Complaint, Peters provides additional detail that Supervisor A made abusive andidgmea
comments and engaged in bullying conduct directed atThes.other three CPS casakers
(McCall, Dyson and Washington) allegedly witnessed aspects of Supervssorigtreatment of
Peters, but nowhere allege that this abusive conduct was directed at them. Ireledu)uyh
Dyson was supervised by Supervisor A, she claims thataehfisupervisor, Supervisor E,
imposed performance penalties on her due to her backlog of cases following thieatparks
Compl. 99 19692.

As noted above, in her EEOC charge, Moore cites her black Supervisor F for excluding
Moore from meetings and assigning her “a greater work load and . . . menial taBk$s].”

EEOC Docs., ECF No. 30-3.

By contrast to the conduct of Supervisors A and F cited in the perfected EEOC charges
the allegedly discriminatory conduct engaged in by the other supervisorsisén thiee Second
Amended Complaint covers a broad range of activity. For example, certain sugeasor

accused of ineffectually addressing employee complaints about Super@samauct
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(Supervisors B, C, D), refusing to write a recommendation (Supervisor B), dirdjrac
subordinate to terminate employees purportedly for retaliatory reasgoer$sor I). These
differences are significant. Confronted with the charges of the threggdlaintiffs, the EEOC
would not have been alerted tetbcope of the allegations asserted bgwhe norfiling
plaintiffs against a far greater number of supervisors in the Second Amended Complaint.

Finally, the claimed adverse employment consequences of the defendant’salleged|
discriminatory conduct varies between the filing and the non-filing plaintifts example, both
Peters and Moore claim that their resignations were constructive discleard®k;Call claims
that his job transfer was a constructive transggePeters EEOC Charge, ECF No. 3041 (
resigned because the conditions were unbearable.”); Moore EEOC ChargdpEBI (‘I am
on leave pending my retirement ”); McCall EEOC Charge, ECF No. 3 (“I transferred out
of the Ms. Jessen’s unit” and, according to the Compl. 1 138, out of the CPS). By contrast, the
nondiling plaintiffs claim injuries ranging from poor performance wiigs and transfers within
CPS to terminationSee, e.g.Compl. 194 (Dyson transferred to another unit within CPS); 1
233 (Washington written-up); 1 398impson terminated); 561 (Meade feared retaliation but
alleges no adversamployment action)ff 641 (Courtdvarshall terminated)

In sum, the allegations of the nélig plaintiffs are not‘so similar that“no
conciliatory purpose woulde servedy filing separat&EOCcharges. . .” Foster, 655 F.2d at
1322. Consequently, the administrative compldited by McCall, Moore and Petevgould not
sufficeto provide notice to the EEOC or the pbdgy of thedisposition ofclaims by the non
filing plaintiffs, who seek to “piggiack on thar co-plaintiffs’ perfected EEOC charges
Therefore, the doctrine é¥icarious exhaustion” does napply and eachlaintiff is required to

exhaust hi®r herindividual administrative remedies. OnBeters Moore and McCalsatisfy
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the exhaustion requirement. Accordingly, Thée VIl claims of the non-filing plaintiffs Dyson,
Washington, Meade, Simpson, and Coershall, as well as the ADEA claiftof plaintiffs
DysonandWashingtonwill be dismissedor failure to exhaust administrative remedies.

B. Hostile Work Environment Claims of Plaintiffs Peters, McCall and Moore

Haintiffs Peters, McCall and Moore contend that thaye “actionable hostile work

environment claimbased on race, age aodhational origin discriminatioh.Pls.” Mem. at 11.
Viewing the allegations in the light most favorable to the plaintiffs, the Secorehded
Complaint alleges, generally, that CFSA “[m]anagement condoned a hastilemvironment
and took no measures to prevent it.” Compl. at 2. In particular, both Peters and MeGalirall
support of their claims, that they “worked in a racially hostile work environment, 2005 to
2009, where [older]black caseworkers, particularly those from Africa and the Caribbean
Islands, were bullied by their supervisorsd. {1 22, 97. Moore alleges that she, too, “worked
in a hostile work environment, from 2001 to the present, where she was bullied by her
supervisors.”ld. § 237. The defendant contends that tiptematiffs have failed to establish a
prima facieclaim of a hostile work environment since, even if they were mistreated by their
supervisors, they cannot show it was because of their protected’State’s Mem. at 15L6.
The Court agrees that thgdaintiffs have failed to plead@ima faciecase of hostile work

environment.

% plaintiffs Meade, Simpson and CouNarshall did not assert age discrimination claims under the ADEA.

% The defendant summarily asserts without analysis‘thahy of the allegatiofisunderlying the plaintiffsTitle

VII claims aretime-barred, stating that Title VII claims require the filing“afcharge of discrimination with the
[EEOC] either 180 days or 300 days after the alleged unlawful empldoyrrestice occurred42 U.S.C. §2000e
5(e)1).” Def’s Mem.at 2223. For purpees of a hostile work environment claim, however, the law permits
consideration of activity falling outside the limitation period so long aatkeunderlying the claim occur within

the period.SeeBaird v. Gotbaum662 F.3d 1246, 1251 (D.C. Cir. 20X1Provided that an act contributing to the
claim occurs within the filing period, the entire time period of thstile environment may be considered by a court
for the purposes of determining liability (quotingSingletary v. Digict of Columbia 351 F.3d 519526-27 (D.C.

Cir. 2003)andNat| R.R. Passenger Corp. Morgan 536 US. 101, 1172002)).
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1. Legal Standard

A plaintiff may establish a violation of Title VII by proving that teeployer created or
condoned a discriminatorily hostile or abusive environmdftdritor Sav. Bank, FSB v. Vinson
477 U.S. 57, 64-65 (1986pPiscrimination in this form occur§w]hen the workplace is
permeated with discriminatory intimidation, ridicule, and insult that is sufficientigreeor
pervasive to alter the conditions of thetim’s employment and create abusive working
environment.” Harris v. Forklift Sys., In¢.510 U.S. 17, 21 (1993) (citation and quotation marks
omitted); Singletary 351 F.3cat526. The Supreme Court liharris explained that assessing
whether a hostile work environment exists has both subjective and objective components. Thus
no Title VIl violation is present “if the victim does not subjectively perceivesthéronment to
be abusive” and the conduds ‘hot severe or pervasive enough to createbgettively hostile or
abusive work environment.Harris, 510 U.Sat 2122.

While the subjective test of whether the plaintiff actually found the envirohaieisive
may be readily satisfied in employment discrimination suits, the Supreme Court has
acknavledged that the boundaries of what constitutes an objectively discrimindtosiije
work environment is not “a mathematically precise tekl.”at 22. The“objective severity of
harassment should be judged from the perspective of a reasonableipénggplaintiff s
position, considering all the circumstante@ncale v. Sundowner Offshore Seré23 U.S. 75,

81 (1998)internal quotations and citations omitted). This objective test requires examiofation
the totality of the circumstances, includitige frequency of the discrimibary [or retaliatory]
conduct; its severity; whether it is physically threatening or humiliating, or aofferesive
utterance; and whether it unreasonably interferes with an empoyeek performanceé

Harris, 510 U.S. at 23.
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The Supreme Court has Inedear thatitle VIl does not establish géneral civility
code for the American workpta.” Oncale 523 U.S. at 80Indeed, Title VII does not prohibit
all verbal or physical harassment in the workpfadd. “[S]imple teasing, offhand comments,
and isolated incidents (unless extremely serious) will not amouathostile work environment.
Faragher v. City of Boca Ratph24 U.S. 775, 788 (1998) (internal quotation marks and
citations omitted)see als&EEOCv. Sunbelt Rentals, In&21 F.3d 306, 315-16 (4th Cir. 2008)
(complaints that would objectively give rise to bruised or wounded feelings demntsithat are
premised on nothing more than rude treatment, callous behavior, or a routine difference of
opinion and personality conflict will not satisfy the severe or pervasive standard).

To “[prevent] Title VII from expanding into a general civility code,” the SupremerC
has emphasized as “crucial”’ the requirement that the behavior be “so objectigabivafas to
alter the conditions of thactim’s employment.” Oncale 523 U.S. at 81see alsd-aragher;
524 U.S. at 788 Conduct must be extreme to amount to a change in the terms and conditions of
employment . ..”). Bosses may be harsh, unfair and rude, but conduct so characterized does
not necessarily rise to the level of a Title VII violation

In addition, the plaintiff “must always prove that the conduct at issue was ndy mere
tinged with offensive . . . connotations, but actually constitdisckimination. . .because of”
the employee’s protected statu@ncale 523 U.S. at 81 (quotation marks and emphasis
omitted) In other words, plaintiffs are required to establish a causal connection h¢theee
harassment and their protected activity to succeed on the &maNichols v.Truscott 424 F.
Supp. 2d 124, 140-41 (D.D.C. 2006). “Itis therefore important in hostile work environment
cases to exclwfrom consideration personnel decisions that lack a linkage of correlation to the

claimed ground of discriminatiorOtherwise, tke federal courts will become a court of
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personnel appeals.Lewis v. Districtof ColumbiaNo. 07-0429, 2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 93299,
at *38-39 (D.D.C. Sept. 8, 201(iting Bryant v. Brownleg265 F. Supp. 2d 52, 63 (D.D.C.
2003).

Taken together, the Supreme Court’s guidance about the requisite elemersshiea
work environment claim has been enumerated as follows: the plaintiff must show tiafl)
she is a member of a protected class; (2) he or she was subjected to unwelcomehiargs
the harassment occurred because of the plaspftected status; (4) the harassment was severe
to a degree which affected a term, condition, or privilege of employment; and (&) ploeyer
knew or should have known about the harassment, but nonstfaled to take steps to prevent
it. Turner v. ShinsekNo. 07-0643, 2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 131426, at *59-60 (D.D.C. Nov. 15,
2011);Dornsv. Geithner 692 F. Supp. 2d 119, 135-36 (D.D.C. 2010) (cititandricks v.
Paulson 520 F. Supp. 2d 65, 89 (D.D.C. 200Bpberson v Sngwt04 F. Supp. 2d 79, 89-90
(D.D.C. 2005).

Set against these requirements, and assuming the “veracity” of the [Haatdifins,
plaintiffs Peters, McCall and Moot®ave “failed to alleged facts that ‘plausibly give rise to an
entitlement to relief”” for their hostile work environment claimsey, 789 F. Supp. 2dt72
(quotinglgbal, 129 S. Ct. at 1949-50).

2. Analysis
In this case, there is no dispute that plaintiffs Peters, McCall and Moore, achharea

black and over 40 y&s of age, are members of a protected class and that they each allege that
they personally felt the CFSBPS environment was hostile. Indeed, as to Peters and McCall at

least, the defendant concedes thigtf taken as true, these allegations may estalbhat
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[Supervisor A] was rude and intimidating . . . .” Def.’s Mem. at 14. Thus, the Court finds that
the first two elements of a hostile work environment claim are met.

Nevertheless, the defendant contends that the plaintiffs fail to show theitesged
mistreatment was because of their membership in a protected Idaas1418. In determining
whether a hostile work environment exists, the court must look atdtadity of the
circumstances,including whether the comments or actionssatie* expressly focusédn the
plaintiff’s protected clasaVicKeithan 803 F. Supp. 2d at 69 (quotiBgloch v. Kempthorne
550 F.3d 1191, 1201 (D.C. Cir. 2008)). According to the defendant, “no plaintiff in this action
alleges facts showing that he or she was the direct target of a single digomyniamark or
action, much less a working environment heavily polluted with discrimination.” DREly at
5 (internal citation and quotation marks omitted). Indeed, the plaintiffs ackigevtbat the
harassment, with a few exceptions, was primarily harsh treaseopposed to racial or ethnic
comments. PIs’ Mem.at 16. Moreover, the defendant argues that merely witnessing abusive
conduct, when the conduct at issue does not contain “any sort of racial, ethnicelntage-
overtones,” Def.’s Reply at 4, is not enough to establish a valid claim for hostile work
environment. The hostile work environment claims of plaintiffs Peters, McCall anceMo®r
addressed individually below.

a. Plaintiff Peters

Peters provides the most detail about patently asple conduct b§upervisor Athat
was directed at Peters and that she claims contributed to the hostile wookerarit at CFSA-
CPS. Supervisor A allegedly over a period of about four years, “hard3seds, treated her
“like a ‘whipping boy,” “screaned at, talked down to, and pointed her finger [and] . . . yelled at

Ms. Peters,” “made intimidating comments” about getting her fired or thregtenfwrite [her]
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up,” physically blocked Petemn several occasiorfisom leaving her cubicle with the plament
of a chair and instructed her to get back to work when Peters was in the bathroom, and
interrupted Peters’ conversations to stop others from talking to her. Compl. 11 36-€&d, Ind
Peters is identified as the employee who Whe principal targedf [Supervisor A’s] abuse.”
Compl. 11 48, 223%ee alsad. § 108 (‘Ms. Peters received the worst treatnignid. { 158
(“Ms. Peters received the most degrading treatment of ariyade Y 354 (“[Supervisor A]
singled Ms. Peters out for harsh treatmgntThe defendant argues that these actions directed at
Peters do not contain discriminatory content and therefore “fail to show that [SapeXyi
mistreated Ms. Peters becausder protected status.” Def.’s Mem. at 15 (emphasis in
original). Indeed, even rude office conduct that generates stressful workingawdoes not
create liability for discrimination under Title VII, unless that condsitpermeated with
discriminatory inimidation, ridicule, and insult.'Harris, 510 U.S. at 2{internal quotations
omitted).

In an effort to satisfy the requirement of showing an environment hostile tmpatse
to their race, national origin or age — as opposed to generally unpleasant for alpkhgees
and particularly unpleasant for Petersthe plaintiffs allege that “older, black caseworkers,
particularly those from Africa and the Caribbean Islands, were bullied bystiggrvisors
[while] [s]imilarly situated caseworkers, who were younger or notkblaere not bullied by
their supervisors.” Compl. {1 22-23, 97-98, 145-46. Yet, this assertion is undermined by the
allegations that (1) white caseworkers managed by Supervisor A “were bikiedeir black
counterparts,id. 1 37; (2) Supervisor A “complain[ed] about other caseworketsy 50,
apparently without distinction as to their protected status; (3) Supervisor A “dndaket

[intimidating ] comments to . . . Ms. Peters’ African Americanawkers,”id. 1 55; and (4)
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Supervisor A’s unit, which the complaint alleges includes bdtitenand black caseworkers,
complained about this supervisor’s “abusive behavior’ and accused her of raceidammm
id. 137, 6869; 119. As the defendant states, “plaintiffs’ allegations clearly indicate th
[Supervisor A] mistreated everyone, regardless of their race.” Def.’s Md. a

Not only do the internally inconsistent factual allegations in the Complaint dedeat th
third requisite element of showing that Peters was subjected to abuse béteungmatected
status, but she has fadl toestablish the fourth requisite element for a hostile work environment
claim. Specifically, during the several years that Petayskedfor Supervisor A from 2005 until
early 2008, there is no allegation that she was penalized by any material ateexgein the
terms or conditions of her employment. Over the course of those four years, she ddegaot
that she was given any “wrig,” any reprimand, any suspension, or any forced transfer. In
fact, the only adverse personnel actions cited by Petesgsrnings and a reprimand allegedly
culminating in her alleged constructive discharge in October, 2009 — occurrethaf2808
Jackstragedy and are part of the factual allegations underlying Peters’ diagtakation. See
Compl. 11 74-89 (cationed “Retaliation”)seealsoHampton v. Vilsack760 F. Supp. 2d 38, 56-
57 (D.D.C. 2011) (“Plaintiff cannot, however, rely on the discrete acts upon which hélsases
discrimination and retaliation claims to support a hostile environment.gjdietting Franklin v.
Potter, 600 F. Supp. 2d 38, 76 (D.D.C. 2009 ¢tause plaintifs allegedly hostile events are
the very employment actions he claims are retaliatory, he cannot so easslydmalieged
retaliatory incidents into a broader hostile wonkieonment claint) (internal quotation marks
and citations omittegl, Wade v. District of Columbj&80 F. Supp. 2d 1, 19 (D.D.C. 2011)
(rejecting plaintiff's effort to transform amalgamation of disparate treatnt@nmscinto cause of

action for hostilevork environmentor lack of connection ipervasive pattern of severe
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harassment(citing Lester v. NatsiQq290 F. Supp. 2d 11, 33 (D.D.C. 2003piscrete acts
constituting discrimination or retaliation claims . . . are different in kind from tdasrk
environment claim that must be based on severe and pervasive discriminatadatidimor
insult.”)).

Even if Peters’ allegations of adverse personnel actions in 2008 and 2009 are abnsidere
in support of her claim of a hostile work environmenivadl as her retaliation claim, they must
be considered in the context of other allegations in the Complaint. Peters’ claimbebout
treatment followinghe Jacks tragedy generally bddwn to the allegation that she was assigned
an overwhelming numbef cases, which created a backlog for which she was penalized by
being ‘written ug’ multiple times, wheriother members of [Supervisor A’s] uniith similar
backlogs‘were not written up.” Compl. § 85She alleges more specifically tiay March 31,
2008”she*had 41 cases to investigate with a backlog of 31 ¢ased,was being writteap for
the backlog the following monthd. 1 79, 83. She had more of a backlog than McCall and
Dyson but less of a backlog than Washington, but they too were writtdd .Ul 127, 131 (as
of March 31, 2008, McCall had 36 cases to investigate witicklog of 28 casesy. 168 (as
of March 31, 2008, Dyson had 38 cases to investigdtea backlog of 28 casesit. 1215 (as
of March 31, 2008, Washington had 42 cases to invéstigiéh a backlog of 33 casesge also
19 438, 445 (caseworker supervised by Ekwem had, in March, 2008, “40 cases assigned her,”
which increased thereafter to “57 cages’hus, from the face of the Complaint at least, it seems
that contrary taPeters claim, other caseworkers in her unit with similar backlagse, in fact,
also written up, including American-born caseworkers (McCall, Dyson and Wash)jragtd

caseworkers older than Peters who do not claim age discrimination (McCal
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Moreover, other allegations make clear that the increased assignment of cases was
just to black caseworkers. An Indian caseworker was also assigned a lalggr nticasesd.
19176-85, and of fourteen caseworkers with 40 or more cases, eleven were older thas 40 year
of age and five of those older workers were foreign born caseworkers from, Afed@aribbean
Islands and Indiald. 118384. This suggests that the majority of caseworkers assigned a large
caseload were not foreigyorn and that the increase in reports of child abuse and neglect
increased the workload across the board. In addition, it suggests that older kasgwior
matter their race or ethnicity, were assigned and expected to deal with an intoadsed
presumably bease they were more experienced.

Another judge on this Court has reached a similar conclusion in dismissing equal
protection claims of hostile work environment and intentional discriminati®aticia Ivey, a
proposed plaintifintervenor in this actionSee Ivey789 F. Supp. 2d at 65 (Jackson, h)that
casethe plaintiff allegdthat thedefendant €reated a hostile work environment for older
caseworkers. . by assigning them an overwhelming number of cases and then threatening them
with disciplinary action if they did not eliminate their backloghile “younger caseworkers
were not assigned as many cases.” Id. at 70. Judge Jackson found the allegations
insufficient to meet the plausibility thresholdlgbal in view of the common sense questions
about how much smaller the caseloads of younger workers were compared to thessdsr
employees antiwhat was the level of experience of the younger workerg?at 70. She also
scrutinized the plausibility of the plaintif allegaton that the assignment of a large caseload
was motivated by some discriminatory animus and concludedttieat“are multiple other
inferences that can be drawn from these allegatiolds.at 71. Judge Jackson observed of{f]

example, at a time whendlgency was under intense public scrutiny, one reasonable
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interpretation of the allegations is that more cases were assigned toadderkers because of
their superior experience and knowledge of child protective servites.”

Theinstantallegations make apparent thite CFSACPS work environment was
stressful and that this stress increased in 2008 after the Jacks tragedypeiitissrs pressing
to ensure satisfactory job performance by caseworkedeed, in the wake of the deaths of the
four Jacks children, increased scrutiny within the agency on job performance would be a
common sense response to such a tragic wake-up call. Even a highly stressful workremtir
is not the same as a hostile work environment imbued with the requisigsiperdiscriminatory
animus to support a Title VII claim. While Peters complains that she waszeehr her job
performance, this simply does not constitute an adverse employmentlaextaarse ofier
protected status, when she concedes in the Complaint that she “could not eliminatklbgr bac
no matter how many hours she worked,” Compl. 84, and other allegations make apparent that
others were similarly ovdpaded with cases and penalized for their backl&@&@eReshard v.
LaHood No. 87-2794, 2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 34426, at *17 (D.D.C. Apr. 7, 2010) (letter of
reprimand for employée failure to perform assigned duties not materially adverse, even though
it would be placed in employee’s persehfile for up to three years).

For these reasonseters has failed to satisfy the requirements fmiraa faciecase of
hostile work environment by showing that she was subjected to hostility becawsgaftected
status or that pervasive hostility adversely affected the conditions of hesyengpit amounting
to an adverse employment action. Accordingly, she has failed to state a clestilef work

environment.
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b. Plaintiff McCall

Plaintiff McCall corroborates the treatment by Supervisor A of Peters, ajléuah“Ms.
Peters received theonst treatment.” Compl. 1 108ee also idY 158 (“Peters received the most
degrading treatment of anyaie(Dyson);id. 1223 (“Peters was the principal target of
[Supervisor A’s] abuse.”) (Washingtondt. 1 354 (“[Supervisor A] singled Ms. Peters &t
harsh treatmeri? (Simpson). Yet, these allegations that Supervisor A targeted Peterdhianore t
other similarly situated caseworkers actualtglermineshe plaintiffs’ assertion that Supervisor
A’s conduct towards them was uniformly animated by their protected stdtes ti@n some
personal animosity towards Peters. When focusing on Supervisor A’s conduct towgrds hi
McCall alleges only that this supervisor “constantly tried to intimidate him with corsrike,
‘I am going to write you up.”ld. § 115. This allegation of threatened personnel action falls
short of alleging that the threat wascauseof his protected status and, in any event, simply does
not amount to such extreme discriminatory intimidation or ridicule to alter the condifibrs
employment.Franklin, 600 F. Supp. 2dt 77 (the fact thegupervisor threatenetplaintiff with
job-related consequences for his refusals to meet workplace expectations doesonstrdéea
hostile work environment pervaded by discriminationetaliatior); Singh v. U.S. House of
Reps., Comm. on Ways & MeaB80 F. Supp. 2d 48, 56 (D.D.C. 2004 (jticisms of a
subordinate’s work and expressions of disapproval (even loud expressions of disappdiial) ar
kinds of normal strains that can occur in any office setting);.se& alsdBaloch 550 F.3dat
1201 (finding that totality of circumstancégslid not show hostile work environment despite
plaintiff’s “several verbal clashes with his supervisor in the workp)acEius, McCall fails to
establish the third and fourth requisite elements fmiraa faciecase of hostile work

environment.
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C. Plaintiff Moore

Plaintiff Moore alleges in support of her claim of hostile work environment thaidot
years, from 2000 to 2008, Supervisor F, who is black, singled her out for abusive treatment,
including making “disparaging remarks,” such as “I did not pick you” and “You would wet ha
been my choice;” excluding her from meetings and staff lunches; screanhiag and
threatening to write harp for “borderline insubordination.” Compl. 11 247-63. Moore does not
indicate how frequently such remarks were madéile the Court certainly does not condone
the expression of disparaging or unfair remarks by a supervisor to an employeés Moore
cortinued performance of her supervisory duties over an eight year period, witlagosit
evaluations for her performance during her detail and from caseworkers whom skessdper
seee.g, Compl.91196, 232tends to undercut her contention that this was a hostile work
environment.SeeSewellv. Chag 532 F. Supp. 2d 126, 142 (D.D.C. 200g}]tray remarks
made occasionally over an approximately eiggdr periodincluding raised voices by
supervisor, do not make workplace hostisdf'd per curiam Sewell v. Hugler No. 08-5079,
2009 U.S. App. LEXIS 4136t *2-4 (D.C. Cir. Feb. 25, 2009).

Moore seeks to satisfy the third elemfanta prima faciecase of hostile work
environmenthat she was mistreated because of her race, age or national origin with the bare
allegations that she was “the only black foreign born supervisor” and the “oldestisoiier
under Supervisor F. Compl. 1 247, 2&he alleges that she wasxcluded from many
meetings, yet also complains about Supervisor F's conduciatals her when sHeid attend
meetings. Id. 11 25556. After one incident, apparently in 2001, when Supervisor F “began
screaming at hérMoore complained to human resources and received an apology from the

supervisor.ld. 11 25759. These are clegrupsetting work incidents but such travails without
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any other indication that they were due to her protected status, is not enough to shie a hos
work environment.Moore also complains about her detail asiatlfine caseworkerfollowing

the Jacks tigedy. She alleges, however, that she was not the only supervisor “detailed"tto assis
with the surge of child abuse and neglect reports occurring after the Zaygdytralthough she
claims to be the only supervisor placed in a “hotline caseworker” posltdoff.285. While

detailed as a hotline caseworker, she “received compliments on her work andjaogejgb
performance evaluation,” and following the detail, she was reinstated to &isapeposition

with a staff. Id. 11285, 291, 292. Posue feedback and evaluations, as well as restoration to a
full management position, are inconsistent with a claim that she was discriminated ega

hostile work environment. Thus, without more, her bare allegations about her protected status
are ingifficient to show that the treatment Moore received from Supervisor Bewasise ofier

age, national origin or race.

In addition, in the portion of the Complaint relating to her “Hostile Work Environment”
claim, Moore does not claim that tharassment was severe to a degree which affected a term,
condition, or privilege of employmend satisfy the fourth element for this claim. Indeed, co
plaintiffs give positive reviews of Moore’s work performance. Compl. § 196 (“Dyson
considered Ms. Moore to be oakthe best supervisors at the agency'232 (“Washington
enjoyed working under Ms. Moofe. Moreover, while Moore claims that she “feared that her
job was in jeopardy,id. { 265, such concern, without more, simply does not constitute an
adverse employment action.See Herbert v. Architect of the Capjtéb6 F. Supp. 2d 59, 76
(D.D.C. 2011) (proposed reprimand thagtdt [plaintiff] in fear that it would‘jeopardize his

promotion’” is notamaterially aderse actionjcitation omitted).

Page 47 of 94



The Compdint does not make clear whether the facallalgations underlyiniyloore’s
“Retaliatiori claim are also proffered in support of the hostile work environment ckaim
confusion that applies equally to the claims for discrete discriminatory actscased below.
Under the caption of “Retaliation,” Moore alleges a series of actions dxy thfferent
supervisors stretching over the period from 2005, after she complained to a couasetbefr
Employee Assistance Program and to human resources, urgllégegd constructive discharge
in November, 2009. These retaliation allegations claim (1) “openly abusive” cdodiacts
her by Supervisor G, including poor job performance evaluations from Supervisors F and G in
2005, 2006, and 2007, which resultedriaking her ineligible for a pay increase; (2) “harsh
treatment” by Supervisor D in the spring of 2009 that consisted of “regularly stgjutt
Moore and “on at least two occasions threaten[ing] Ms. Moore with disciplinaonA¢3) her
“detail” as ahotline caseworker in CPS to assist with the post-Jacks surge in child abuse and
neglect reports; and (4) removal of her staff, office and position, after she tookpgmavesl
four-month leave under the Family Medical Leave Act. ConfpRg7-311.

Even if these retaliation allegations consisting of poor performance evaluations,
threatened disciplinary action, a temporary detail to a subordinate position andlreihizra
job responsibilities— are considered as part of her hostile work environmriamh to show that
the abusive environment adversely affected her employment conditions, the Secamtedm
Complaint simply does not show that any of the actions outlined were because oéhageaor
national origin. In view of the positive job penfieance evaluations she received during her
detail, restoration of her supervisory position upon completion of the detail, and positive
descriptions by other plaintiffs about Mo@gderformancén 2009,see, e.g.id. 196, 230-32,

the Second Amende@omplaint simply does not indicate that the allegedly hostile work
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conditions unreasonably interfered with her work performasee Curry v. District of
Columbig 195 F.3d 654, 662 n.16 (D.C. Cir. 1999) (citkgrris, 510 U.S. at 23)}ussain v.
Gutierrez 593 F. Supp. 2d 1, 6-7 (D.D.C. 2008). Thus, even considering the retaliation
allegations as part of Moore’s claim of hostile work environment does not cugsltiie fo
meet the fourth element forpaima faciecase.

In sum, despite the lengthy faatwallegations asserted in the Complaint in support of the
plaintiffs’ claim of hostile work environment, they have failed to establigicarelements for
such a claim that would “nudge” their allegations into the plausible realm. Withostlpé&
allegations, the claims do not survive the Motion to Dismiss.

C. Disparate Treatment Claims of Plaintiffs Peters, McCall and Moore

As previously noted, thé&itle VIl andADEA discrimination and retaliation claims of
only Plaintiffs Peters, McCall and Moore survive the defendaxhaustion challeng&he
Second Amended Complaint contains broad allegations of disparate treatmentexssothicd
hostile work environmentSee, e.gCompl.at2 (the defendantdiscriminated against them and
similarly situated employees on the basis of their race, national origin), ayefl 23 (Peters)
(“Similarly situated caseworkers, who were younger or not black, were rieiddoy their
supervisors); id. § 98 (McCall) (same)d. 1 250 (Moore)‘{Supervisor F] singled Ms. Moore
out for abusive treatmen}.” The Second Amended Complaint does not clearly distinguish the
allegations underlying the hostile work environment claim from those shaligpgrate
treatment arising from discrete discriminatory acts due to the plaimtaffg, age and/or national
origin. SeeBaird, 662 F.3d at 125@0ting that plaintiffs failureto segregate in the complaint
those events she claims constitute a hostile work environment from discrete acts of

discrimination and/or retalian “doubtless complicates the cosrtask). In any event,ie
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D.C. Circuit has made clear that the same acts“siaultaneously support different types of
Title VII claims” since” plaintiffs are free to plead alternative theories of harm that might stem
from the same allegedly harmful conduictd. at 1252.2"

To the extent that the plaintiffs are alleging discrete discriminatory hedetendant
contends that dismissal of the plaintiffs’ disparate treatment claims is warractadsb the
plaintiffs “have failed to allege facts that show an adverse employment action,” dreihat t
“alleged mistreatment was because of [their] membership in a protected class’M2eh. at
18-19. As already notedupranote 24, the defendant also asserts withoatysis, that “[m]any
of plaintiffs’ allegations fall well outside of’ the applicable limitations peritdl.at 23. The
disparate treatment claims Béters, McCall and Moore will now be evaluasediatimbelow
for their sufficiency

1. Legal Standard

Both Title VII of the Civil Rights Actand he ADEA makeit “unlawful for an employer”
to “discriminate against any individual with respect to his compensation, teynttiens, or
privileges of employment, because of such individuadie,”29 U.S.C. 8§ 623(a)(1pr “because
of such individual’s race, color, religion, sex, or national origin.” 42 U.S.C. § 2D@0@).
Under bothTitle VII and the ADEA,‘the two essential elements of a discrimination claim are
that (i) the plaintiff sufferedraadverse employment action (ii) because of the plamtiéice,
color, religion, sex, national origjor] age . .” Baloch 550 F.3d at 119@rady v. Office of the
Sergeant at Arm$20 F.3d 490, 493 (D.C. Cir. 2008).

An “adverseemployment action”s“a significant change in employment status, such as

hiring, firing, failing to promote, reassignment with significantly diffenesponsibilities, or a

27 At the same time, however phaintiff may not combine discrete acts to form a hostile work enviesnrmlaim,
“without meeting the required hostile tkenvironment standard.Baird, 662 F.3d at 1252.
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decision causing significant change in benéfitaird, 662 F.3d at 1248 (quotirigouglas v.
Presto, 559 F.3d 549, 552 (D.C. Cir. 20093ke alsdtewart v. AshcrofB52 F.3d 422, 426
(D.C. Cir. 2003)“Adverse employment actian . [entails & tangible employment action
evidenced by firing, failing to promote, a considerable change in benefiesgssignment with
significantly different responsibiliti€y. Thus, ‘not everything that makes an employee
unhappy is an actionable adverse actidBaird, 662 F.3d. at 125(0nternal citation omitted)

“[R]esignations or retirements are presumed to be voluntary .Veitth v. England
471 F.3d 124, 134 (D.C. Cir. 2006) (Rogers, J., concurrgggp;alsdeyes v. District of
Columbig 372 F.3d 434, 439 (D.C. Cir. 2004enn v. Nat'| Geographic So¢'$19 F.2d 824,
828 (7th Cir. 1987). The doate of constructive discharge may apply in certain circumstances
to allowan employeé¢o overcome the presumption of voluntariness and demonttetie
resignation or retirement constituted adverse employmeacttion by showing that the
resignation or retirement was, in fact, not voluntailiotta v. Bair, 614 F.3d 556, 566-67 (D.C.
Cir. 2010) ¢iting Rowell v. BellSouth Corp433 F.3d 794, 805 (11th Cir. 2005)ega v. Kodak
Caribbean, Ltd 3 F.3d 476, 480 (1st Cir. 1993). “The test for construcliseharge is an
objective one: whether a reasoleperson in the employee’s position would have felt compelled
to resign under the circumstancedliotta, 614 F.3d at 566seealso Steele v. Schafeb35 F.3d
689, 695 (D.C. Cir. 2008) (for constructive dischaayplaintiff must show thatthe abusie
working environment became so intolerable that [the] resigngtiatified as a fitting response”)
(quotingPenn State Police v. Suders42 U.S. 129, 134 (2004)

2. Analysis

The Second Amended Complaint repeatedly alleges in general, conclusw yHat

Plaintiffs Peters, Moore and McCall, along with other employees and thi#ingrplaintiffs,
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were “harassed” or subjected to “abusive treatmefeg, e.g.Compl. %345, 47, 105-07,

114, 154-55, 157 (referring to unnamed Nigerian and Jamaican or foreign-born caseworkers
being abused). le specific discrete discriminatory actiaikegedly directed at plaintiffs Peters,
Moore and McCall must teased out of these general assertions in order to assess the
sufficiency of their claims of dispate treatment. Indeed, the defentacharacteriation of the
plaintiffs’ allegations asdisjointed andasan effort to “throw a host of allegations of
discrimination against the wall in an appareope that something will stick,” is fairly accurate
and not merely advocacy hyperbolBef.’s Mem. at 12 The incidents of disparate treatment
alleged by Plaintiffs Peters, McCall and Moore are analyzed below.

a. Alleged Disparate Treatment Actions Against Plaintiffs Peters and
MccCall

The same factuallagations underlying the plaintiffs’ clasof hostile work
environment are also apparently used to support the claims of discrete digonyrécéions.
SeeBaird, 662 F.3d at 1252 (“[Rintiffs are free to plead alternative theories of harm thatimigh
stem from the same allegedly harmful condiictBoth Peters and McCall claim that Supervisor
A discriminated against them by: (1) at unspecified times apparentlyde®85 and 2007,
threatening to write them up, Compl. 1 54 (Peters), 1 Mt&A4ll); and (2) in 2008, following
the Jacks tragedy and surge in child abuse and neglect reports, writing them up fpr havin
backlogs of cases when other caseworkers with similar backlogs werethen wp,id. 1 83-
85 (Peters)f11131-32 McCall). In additon, Peters claims that, at unspecified srapparently

between 2005 and 2007, this supervisor (3) screamed and talked dowridoth&2,; and (4)

2 \While the Complaint does not provide the precise timing of the events citedotinedBcerns the time period
“between 2005 and 200Based on the chronological order in which the events are desoxibethe years covered
in the Second Amended Complaint.
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took inappropriate actions, such as blocking her from leaving her desk and interrepting h
conversationsvith co-workers or her restroom breakisl. 11 56-58.

At the outset, the Court must consider the obvious, namely, whether claims stretching
back to 2005 are time-barred. The alleged adverse acts occurring in 2008 ofadlenligside
the 300day statite of limitations for filing an EEOC complaiahdare timebarred Title VII
requires‘aggrieved persondb file a darge with the EEO@ithin 180days after the alleged
unlawful employment practioeccurred, but this period is extended to 300 days when the person
has initially instituted a procedure with a state or local ageA2yJ.S.C. § 20008&{e)(1). A
“work-sharing” arrangement between the EEOC and the District of Columbia Offlduman
Rights ("“DCOHR”) deems timekljiled EEOC charges as csfled with the DCOHR, making
the deadline for filing EEOC charges in the District of Columbia 300 days frodatkeof the
alleged discriminationTucker v. Howard Univ. Hosp764 F. Supp. 2d 1, 2 (D.D.C. 2011) (“In
the District of Columbia, afEEOQ charge must be filed within 300 days of the date of the
alleged discriminatiof); Ellis v. Georgetown Univ. Hosp31 F. Supp. 2d 71, 78 (D.D.C.
2009)(*When a charge of discrimination is filed with the EEOC in the District of Columbia, a
claim is automtically crossfiled with the D.C. Office of Human RightsCOHR’) pursuant to
a‘worksharing agreemeénbetween the two agencies(&jting Carter v. George Washington
Univ., 387 F.3d 872, 879 (D.C. Cir. 2004)). This requirement is onthefgrerequises that a
plaintiff must satisfy before filing suit. AMTRAK v. Morgan536 U.S. 101, 109 (200%e¢e
alsoSingletary 351 F.3d at 523 urrier, 159 F.3d at 1366 & n.8mithThompsorv. District of
Columbig 657 F. Supp. 2d 123, 131 (D.D.C. 200&npbyee claiming discrimination under

Title VII must comply with this timing requirement “or lose the ability] recover for it.”).
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Peterdiled her EEOC*Chargeof Discrimination”’on November 9, 2009, and McCall
filed his charge on November 2, 2009. Thus, only disparate treatment claims based on events
occurring after January 13, 2009 for Peters and January 6, 2009 for McCall are timely.
Singletary 351 F.3cat 526 (“‘[D]iscrete discriminatory actsuch agerminatiors andfailures to
promote . . . ‘ee not actionable if time barred, even when they are related tdlagesdan
timely filed charge$”) (quotingNat| R.R. Passenger Corp. v. Morg&s86 U.S. 101, 113
(2002)). The allegations describing conduct that occurred between 2005 and 2008-are t
barred.

The only disparate treatment allegation made by Peters that appears ithiialthe
statutory period is that “[Superviser A] wrote Wefer$ multiple times until the warnings lead
[sic] to a reprimand and the reprimand to a proposed suspension in October 2009,” prompting
her to resign that month. Compl. 11 87,28- Peters alleges that her “backlog was similar to
those of other members of [Supervisor A’s] unit, who were not written kap {1 85. Just as this
claim was found insufficient to support the hostile work environment claim, it is icisuffito
support a disparate treatment claim. As discussed, in subsectiorsB@apenalizing Peters
for poor wok performance when she concedes slmuft not eliminate her backlog naatter
how many hours she worked,” Compl. 1 84, may have appeared to her to be unfair but that is a
far cry fromdiscriminatingagainst her for her protected status. In the context of the increased
workload and pressure under which CPS was operating iaftbrmath of the Jacks tragedy, the
increased scrutiny and supervision given to employees is not surprising. Morsadiscussed
in connection with her claims of hostile work environment, contrary to Peters’ ¢tlatrher

assigned workload and repmamds for her backlog in 2009 were discriminatory, the workload
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increases appear to have been shared by other caseworkers, who werg sirntiianl up for
backlogs. These claims simply do not support a claim of disparate treatment.

McCall makes no dgarate treatment allegation that falls within the statutory period.
Indeed, while he complains about being unfairly “written up” for his backlog of edftszghe
Jacks tragedy, the latest occasion he cites for such aupritecurred “[ijn the summer of
2008.” Id. 1 131. The only other incident he cites within the statutory period is that “[i]n the
summer of 2009, [he] suffered a groin injury that caused him to take a week off frégh avat
upon his return Supervisor A told him that “she should evtgen him up for complaining
about her a year earlierlt. { 137. This appears to be an allegation of retaliation rather than
disparate treatment, however, and no other information is provided to assist the Court in
understanding the purpose for whiblat allegation is made. In short, McCall has not made out
a timely claim of disparate treatment.

b. Alleged Disparate Treatment Actions Against PlaintiffMoore

Moore claims that her supervisors from 2000 to 2008 discriminated against HEr by: (
screaming at or making disparaging remarks abouich€jf 263, 269; (2) regularly threatening
to write her up and actually writing her up for “borderline insubordinatioh {11 261, 301; (3)
excluding her from staff meetings and lunchds{ 255, 257, 260; (4) giving her poor job
performance evaluations in 2005, 2006 and 2@D7274-80; and (5) detailing her to serve as
a “hotline caseworker” following the Jacks trageidyf 285. To the extent that any of these
allegations constitute disparate treatment, they are alkdamed. Moore filed her‘Charge of
Discriminatiori with the EEOC on December 8, 2062eECF No. 303 at 1 and thereforeany

allegationconcerning events that occurreefore February 11, 2009 aretiomely.
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The only allegations occurring between February 11, 2009 and her resignation in
November 2009 asserted by Moore that may support a disparate treatnmertrelthat after
Supervisor D became her supervisor in the spring of 2009, he “regularly shouted at fher] i
presence of her staff,” Compl. § 300, and removed her job responsibilities upon her return from
an unapproved four-month FMLA leavd, 11303-08. These allegations simply are not
sufficient to state alaim of disparate treatmenhNowhere does Moore allege that Supervisor D
treated her harshly due to her protected status. Even harsh treatment by acs\gmesiaot
support an employment discrimination claim, absent any assertion that the mteatraelue to
the plaintiff'srace, age or national origin. Indeed, Moore indicates that her relationship with
Supervisor D started off welld. § 299 (“[Supervisor Dyvas initially sympathetic . . .”), which is
not consistent with the behavior of a supervisor motivated by racial animus.

Moreover, it strains common sense to attribute the removal of Moore’s job
responsibilities to disparate treatment. Not only does she not make that@illegia¢i concedes
that she took a four-month leave from her job that was not approved by her supervisor.

In order to meet the requirement of showing an adverse employment action for a
disparate treatment claim under Title VIl or the ADEAtlbPeters and Moore claim thatithe
resignations were constructive dischargfetd. 1 934 (Peters); 1 311 (Moore); Plélem. at
22. McCall claims that he was forced to accept a transfer out of the CPS that recutzde hi
home pay. Compl.ffiL38-40. Even assuming as true that the resignations and transfer were

adverse employment actions, these plaintiffs fail to show that theysuérect to any discrete

2 Moore alleges in the Second Amended Complaint that she resigned, Gp&igl, and ither EEOC‘ Charge of
Discriminatiori that“[a]s of 1223-09 | am on leave pending my retirement effective31:09.” ECF No. 303.
Whether Moore resigned or retired is immaterial since under either circumstsnCourt will construe her
allegation as one of constructive discharge.
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acts of discriminatiotecause of therace,age omational originand therefore that there was
any causal connection to their resignations or transfer.
D. Retaliation Claims of Plaintiffs Peters, McCall and Moore
Plaintiffs Peters, McCall and Moore each claim that they were retaliated against for
complaining about the discriminatory conduct of their supervisors. The defendant con&nds t
“the Complaint itself shows there was a legitimate reason for the purportéaligtory acts”
and therefore the plaintiffs fail to make oytrama faciecase of retaliation. Def.’s Mem. at 19.
The Court agrees that the retaliatory acts alleged are eithebdéimed or are insufficient as a
matter of law.
1. Legal Standard
Title VII makes it an unlawful employment practice for an employer:
to discriminate against any of his employees . . . because he has opposed
any practice made an unlawful employment practice by this subchapter,
or because he has made a charge, testified, assistgatticipated in
any manner in an investigation, proceeding, or hearing under this
subchapter.
42 U.S.C. § 20008(a)
To establish @rima faciecase of retaliation under Title VII, a plaintiff must show that
“(1) he engaged in protected activi{®) he was subjected to an adverse employment action; and
(3) there was a causal link between the protected activity and the adversg adtiomlton v.
Geithner 666 F.3d 1344, 1357 (D.C. Cir. 2012) (quotigodruff v. Peters482 F.3d 521, 529
(D.C. Cir. 2007))Wiley v. Glassmarb11 F.3d 151, 155 (D.C. Cir. 200Bmithv. District of
Columbig 430 F.3d 450, 455 (D.C. Cir. 2008)prgan v. Fed. Home Loan Mortg.Coy328
F.3d 647, 651 (D.C. Cir. 2003Jingletary 351 F.3cdat 524;Mitchell v. Baldrige, 759 F.2d 80,

86 (D.C. Cir. 1985).
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As to the first elemenprotected activity encompassgsizing informal grievance
procedures such as complaining to management or human resources about the d@griminat
conduct. Richardson v. GutierreZ77 F. Supp. 2d 22, 27 (D.D.C. 2007} {8 well settled that
Title VII protects informal, as well as formal, complaints of discriminat)oisee also Bell v.
Gonzales398 F. Supp. 2d 78, 4B.D.C. 2005) (“Initiation of EEO counseling to explore
whether an empiee has a basis for alleging discrimination constitutes protected activity, eve
in the absence of an unequivocal allegation of discriminajion.”

A plaintiff meets the second eleméatshow gprima faciecase of retaliatioif “ a
reasonable employee would have found the challenged action materially ddvexseing that
it “might have dissuaded a reasonable worker from making or supporting a charge of
discrimination” Burlington Northern & Santa Fe Ry. Co. v. Wh48 U.S. 53, 68 (2006)
(“Burlington Northerrl). Thus, adverse actions giving riseétaliation claimsre broader than
for disparate impact claims and &ret limited to discriminatory actions that affect the terms
and conditions of employment,” but reach any harm tivatl“might havedissuaded a
reasonable worker from making or supporting a charge of discriminatizairt, 662 F.3dat
1249 (quotingBurlington Northern548 U.Sat 68). Yet, the Court inBurlington Northern
distinguished fnaterially adverseactions from ftrivial harms;” “ petty slights’, and “minor
annoyances. Id. at 68 The Courtalso noted that “[c]ontext matters” anthg significance of
any given act of retaliation will often depend upon the particular cireumoss.” Id. at 69 see
also id.(“[A] n act that would be immaterial in some situations is material in dthégation
omitted). As discussed above, resigning, retiring or transferring from a positiptgaiasffs
Peters, Moore and McCall did, respectively, may constitute an adverse emmiayatien of

constructive discharge or involuntary transfer if the plaintiff shows that signegion,
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retirement or transfer occurred under conditions that forced that clgaoel, 662 F.3d at 1248-
49.

Finally, the third element of the testquiring a causal link between the protected activity
and the adverse employmentiastmay be satisfied merely by close temporal proximity
between théwo events.Clark Cnty. Sch. Dist. v. BreedeésB2 U.S. 268, 273 (200{noting
that the temporal connection must lvery closé: a threeor four-month period between an
adverse actionral protected activity is insufficient to show a causal connection, and a twenty-
month period suggestad causality at dl); Hamilton 666 F.3d at 1357 [T]emporal proximity
can indeed support an inference of causation, but only where the two events are gary clos
time.”) (quotingWoodruff 482 F.3d at 529).

Significantly, however, even if the plaintiff establishgwiana faciecase of retaliation,
dismissal may still be warranted for failure to state a claim if the defendant shegitsnaate
non-dscriminatory reason for its actionSee Broderick v. Donaldsp#37 F.3d 1226, 1231
(D.C. Cir. 2006). Such a legitimate reason breaks the causal connection betweashtthe fi
elements and defeats a retaliation claifhen ‘the court must simply detmine whether the
plaintiff has put forward enough evidence to defeat the proffer and support a finding of
retaliation” Bright v. CoppsNo. 08-755, 2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 142160, at *23 (D.D.C. Dec.
9, 2011)(citing Woodruff 482 F.3d at 530 cGrath v. Clinton 666 F.3d 1377, 1383 (D.C. Cir.
2012).

2. Analysis

Set against the applicable legal standard for showprgrea faciecase of retaliation, the
retaliation claims of PeterdicCall and Moore fall short. The retaliation claims of these three

plaintiffs are discussed below.
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a. Retaliation Claims of Plaintiffs Peters and McCall

Both Peters and McCall allege that they engaged in protected activity on tvgmasca
First, in 2007, they complained to management personnel about the abusive conduct of
Supervisor A, resulting in a meeting convened by Supervisor B at which theyédccus
Supervisor A of race discrimination.” Compl. 11 69-73, 119-21. Although they were assured
“that there would be no retaliation,” Supervisor A “became veryledstid. 173, 123.
Second, “in 2008 and 2009,” Peters and McCall lodged complaints with Supervisors C and D
about Supervisor A’s actions writing them up and threatening penaltiestheir backlog of
cases in the aftermath of the Jacks tragedy, #hargh other caseworkers in the unit with
similar backlogs were not written upd. 9 7989, 11 128-32. According to Peters and McCall,
despite their complainte management about Supervisos Areatment‘neither [Supervisor C
or D] took steps to end the abuséd. § 88;see also idf133. Their requests for transfer were
denied. Id. 11189, 134. When poor job evaluations led to a proposed suspension in October,
2009, Peters resignedd. 1 93. When Supervisor D advised McCall that he waadeawrite
up, McCall transferred out of CPS in August, 2609d. 7 138.

At the outset, again, the Court must consider the timeliness of these allegétions
retaliation that date back to 2007. The first allegation of retaliation in the farmmrefiged
hostility from Supervisor A towards Peters and McCall appears to bébamed. The vague
timing set forth in the Second Amended Complaint indicates that the increasetlyrafstili
Supervisor A began in 2007 and, therefore, occurred long before the statutory 300-day period in
January 2009 before the filing of these plaintiffs’ EEOC charges. In any eventf ¢his

allegation of retaliation were considered to be timely, the claim does notestire Motion to

%9In their oppositionbrief, the plaintiffs state that McCall transferred ou€C8fS*after being threatendayy
[Supervisor A] with a writeup that he felt would lead to his terminatioRJs.” Mem. at 23, but the Complaint
attributes this final writaup threat to Supervisor DCompl.{138.
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Dismiss. Other than increased hostifitom Supervisor Aneither Petersaor McCall assert that
they were subjected to an adverse employment action in connection with their 2007rddmpla
management about SupervisosAhistreatment of thenmlhus, thisallegation simplycannot
plausibly sipport a retaliation claim.

With regard to the second incidence of retaliation, the Second Amended Consphaint i
entirely clear when “[ijn 2008 and 2009” Peters made informal complaints to progamagers
Supervisors C and D “about [Supervisor A] . . . to end the abuse.” Compl. § 88. No dates
whatsoever are provided for when McCall “complained to several managers, including
[Supervisors C and D], about [Supervisor A’s] abusive behavidr.§ 133. Nevertheless, both
Peters and McCall allege tHatlowing these complaints, nothing changed and presumably
Supervisor A’s abusive conduct continued. Even assuming that these allegatianslgretey
are insufficient to support a claim of retaliation for several reasons.

First, the Court finds thdeters and McCadl complaints to Supervisor C and D do not
clearly constitute protected activity. While informal complaints to managementansijtate
protected activity, the plaintiffs must clearly complain about discriminatorinmiezd. While the
Second Amended Complaint suggests Beters and McCallomplained to management about
Supervisor A assigning them too many cases and then penalizing them for g bdwtoother
caseworkers were not penalized, they do not allege that they complained about betieg) fairge
this harsher treatment due to their race, age or national origin or even inioetédiatheir prior
complaints about her.

Second, the fact that nothing changed after they complained in 2008 and 2009 about
Supervisor A to Supervisors C and D undercuts their clafmstaliation. Acording to the

allegations, even after they complained, “the abuse” from Supervisor A contintredfanrh of
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too many cases and the imposition of performance penalties for their backlogser lwatds,
their allegations do not even suggest that following their complaints, Supervisormertae
hostile, penalized them more severely or assigned them even more cases tieahdiefor
complaintsas retaliation for their complaints

Third, the aslerse employment actions thatters and McCall allege to have stemmed
from their 2008 and 2009 complaints to Supervisors C and D do not appear to be causally
connected, even if those complaints were deemed to be protected activitylegagoals can
beconstrued to identify three adverse employment actions: denial of transfiis penalties
for their backlogs of cases and constructive discharge or transfer. The defegdesthat“the
Complaint itself shows there was a legitimate reason fqouhgortedly retaliatory acts.Def.'s
Mem. at 19.Specifically,the defendant contends that the Complaint’'s acknowledgement of the
surge in reported child abuse and neglect cases following the January 2008 Jacks tragedy
provides ‘a legitimate nondiscrimatory . . reason for the increased workload that was entirely
divorced from any alleged protected activityd. at 20. The defendant is correct.

Regarding the denial of transfer requests frath i’ eters and McCalCompl. 11 89,
134,it is notertirely clear whether this allegation is meant to indicate an adverse employment
action Assuming it is so intended, however, it does not suffidee denial of their transfer
requests at a time when CPS was handlitegiege in child abuse and neglect reporid,’ 76,
and at least one qaaintiff Augustine Ekwem alleges that he had too many caseworkers to
superviseid. 1473-78, more plausibly appears to have been a reasonable management decision
under the circumstances, rather than a retaliatdrylenial of requests for transfewithout any
allegation that requiring an employee to stay in an assigned position fdr tlvkiobjective

terms of pay, rank, and general tasks have remained thesamb, do not constitute an
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adverse action to suppi@ retaliation claim.SeeBright v. CoppsNo. 08-0755, 2011 U.S. Dist.
LEXIS 142160, at *40 (D.D.C. Dec. 9, 201(pJaintiff's claim that she was denied
reassignmentwvithout identifyingany“objectively tangible harfrresulting from defendarg’
refusd to reassign hemwas not enough to show “how this denial could possibly dissuade a
reasonable worker from ‘making or supporting a charge of discrimindgoDorns v. Geithner
692 F. Supp. 2d 119, 132-34 (D.D.C. 2010) (finding that refusal of transfer request, poor
performance review, refusal to permit attendance at training session aadfadvancement
for sick leave, did not in aggregate constitute adverse employment action).

Regarding the assignment of cases and penalties for backlogmtipisusible to view
these as retaliatory acts given the other allegations in the Second Amendedit@orRptars
alleges that she was assigned averwhelming number of caseand admits that hebacklog
was growing and sheould not eliminate” it. Compl. 1 7984. Likewise, McCall had a
growing backlog and atoverwhelming caseload.1d. 127-29. Both Peters and McCall were
longterm CPS employees and therefore it is reasonable that management woct dhexpedo
be able to handle more cases than less experienced caseworkers. While Peters amaayicCal
perceive that they were treated more harshly than others in the unit, the jompader
penalties meted out to them due to their backlogs were not unfounded and other allegttens
Secor Amended Complaint undercut their claim that they were the only caseworkeramd
penalized for, their backlogsSee, e.g.Compl.N1176-84, 215-17 See alsd.ester v. Natsigs
290 F. Supp. 2d 11, 29-30 (D.D.C. 2003)]ficreased workloads and wsirable work
assignments of which plaintiff complains also do not rise to the level of adversayerept
actions. . . but rather constitute only the ordinary tribulations of the workplace, which eraploye

should expect) (internal quotations omittedMack v. Straussl34 F. Supp. 2d 103, 113
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(D.D.C. 2001)aff'd, No. 01-5122, 2001 U.S. App. LEXIS 24097 (D.C. Cir. Sept. 28, 2001)
(allegedly increased workload does not constitute actionable injury where aotgsted by
adverse change in terms, conditions or privileges of employniBnot)etski v. Duffeyl99
F.R.D. 14, 21 (D.D.C. 2001) (holding that plaintiff had not shown an adverse employment action
sufficient to establish prima faciecase of retaliation based upamter alia, the assignment of
“a disproportionate amount of workd him in a“pattern of deliberate overloading,combined
with plaintiff's unhappiness over supervisor’'s personnel assignments and written reprseand);
also Mungin v. Katten Muchin & Zayi$16 F.3d 1549, 1557 (D.C. Cir. 1997]Gthanges in
assignments or work-related duties do not ordinarily constitute adverse emptajecisions).
Finally, Peters and McCall appear to assert that the manner in which thely $iv&s an
adverse employment action caused by thkediegory action of Supervisor APetersalleges that
she resigned due to Supervisor A writing her oqulftiple times until the warnings lead [sic] to a
reprimand and the reprimand lead [sic] to a proposed suspension in October 2009.” Compl. § 87.
McCall alleges he transferred out of CPS when Supervisor D advisetthdtimme was facing a
“[write-up].” 1d. 1 138. The causal links between Peters’ resignation and McCall's decision to
transfer and the retaliatory acts are too tenuous, however. McCallatlegess that he
complained about Supervisor D, who was about to issue the writBag®erry v. Clinton No.
08-cv-1216, 2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 147034, at *62 (D.D.C. Aug. 29, 2011) (holding no causal
link established between protected activity and istah when plaintiff orovided no evidence
or argument explaining why [supervisevpuld decide to retaliate agairtstr because she filed a
complaint against someone et3éemphasis in original) Moreover, Supervisor A’s case
assignments and reprimands for backlogs to both plaintiffs had ocbefi@éthey complained

about these actions and the fact that these actions continued unabated aftemhlaints does
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not show that they were retaliatory, but more plausibly that they were aatthd surge in
child abuse cases and increased performance pressure under which CPS andets@manag
were operating after the Jacks tragedy.

In any eventthe defendant contests Peters and Mc€alhins that her resignation and
his transfer were involuntary and constitute a constructive discharge and aucioves
involuntary transfer,tespectively. The defendant contends neither plaintiff has alleged a work
environment so intolerable that resignation or transfer was the fitting sespothat their
aleged mistreatment was because of theiembership in a protected class.” BeMem. at
18-19. In circumstances, as here, “where a plaintiff has failed to statela ivosking
environment,” the defendant conclugddse or she simply cannot statelaim for constructive
discharge” or constructive involuntary transfét. at 18. The Court agreeSewell v. Hugler
No. 08-5079, 2009 U.S. App. LEXIS 4136, at *3 (D.C. Cir. Feb. 25, 2009) (unpublisehd*
district court correctly concluded that the failure of Sewwalbnstructive discharge claim
follows a fortiori from the failure of her other clairhef hostile work environmeny. McKeithan
v. Boarman 803 F. Supp. 2d 63, 70 n.5 (D.D.C. Aug. 17, 2q1[B] ecaus¢gplaintiff] has failed
to show that his working environment was hostile, he cannot establish that he wasctvalstr
discharged.”)Landgraf v. USI Film Prods968 F.2d 427, 430 (5th Cir. 1992ff'd on other
grounds 511 U.S. 244 (to prove constructive discharge, the plaintiff hiesnonstrate a greater
severity or pervasiveness of harassment than the minimum required to prove avookitilg
environment). To the extent that Peters seeks to use her resignation and McCall use his
transfer to show the requisite adverse emplaoyraetion to support their retaliation claims, the
effort is unavailing.

For these reasons, the retaliation claims of Peters and McCall must besdikmis
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b. Retaliation Claim of Plaintiff Moore

Plaintiff Moore alleges four instances in which she plammed about mistreatment from
her supervisors: (1) in 2001, she complained to “human resources” about Supervisothisafter
supervisor requested that Moore not speak at a meeting and screamed at her, arsd Moore’
complaint prompted an apology from this supervisor, Cofff257-59; (2) in 2005, she
complained to “human resources” and the “Employee Assistance Program” about<tugervi
screaming at herd. 11269-72; (3) in 2007, she complained to “human resources” about
Supervisor G’s poor evaluation of her based on “the fact that [she] had filed complain$s aga
him with human resourcesd. 11 28681; and (4) in 2009, she complained to Supervisor D
about retaliatory treatment from her prior Supervisors G and F, and Moore dilages t
Supervisor Dhien “became abusive as welld. 1 27-99.

The Complaint is not clear whether Moore claims that all four instances ch sihe
complained about her three supervisors over the course of eight years is ¢ghataetsy that
prompted retaliation. Siecshe filed her EEOC charge on December 8, 2009, however, any
claims of retaliation occurring prior to Felary 11, 2009 are timiearred. Neither party
addresses the timeliness issue in any détawever. Indeed, the plaintiffs’ opposition
memorandum focuses on the first three instances of her complaints to human resources
Specifically, Moore asserts that her claim of retaliation is established beatiasé&dging her
complaints, presumably in 2001, 2005 and 2007, about Supervisors G and F,$she wa
transferred to a non-supervisory position; and there is a causal link between hexirtgshpl

about [those supervisors] and her detail to a non-supervisory position.” Pls.” Meni at 24.

31 Moore does noappear taontendthatheralleged constructive discharge was an adverse employment action in
retaliation for her comlaints about her supervisortndeed, the multiple years between her complaints about
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Even if the Court were to assume this claim was timdbore hasnot sufficiently alleged
protected activity or a causal link to support her retaliation claim.

This Circuit hasmade clear that, “[l0ft every complaint garners its author protection
under Title VII’ Broderick 437 F.3d at 123@laintiff’s written comfaint to her supervisors
did not constitute a protected activity because she complained of her treatmedtrimnitadiege
that she was suffering discrimination or retaliati@®e alsd_ewis v. District of ColumbiaNo.
07-0429, 2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 9329, *34-35 (D.D.C. Sept. 8, 201(®laintiff’s retaliation
claim dismissed since her complaints of mistreatment do not qualify as protectéy albfent
any allegation that these complaints contained allegations of discriminatidal@ticn);
Beyene v. Hilton Hotels CorpNo. 08-1972, 2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 112227*23-24 (D.D.C.
Sept. 30, 201 1plaintiff “must demonstrate that he complained of some unlawful discrimination
based on his membership in a protected tkasg, absent allegatiohat his complaint about
supervisorsharassmenteferred to his religion or national originis retaliation claim fails)
The Second Amended Complaint contains no allegation that when Moore complained to human
resources about her mistreatment by Supersi& and F, she stated that she was being
discriminated against.While no ‘'magic wordsare required, the complaint must in some way
allege unlawful discrimination, not just frustrated ambitido qualify as protected activity.

Broderick 437 F.3d at 1232. Moore has failed to meet this requirement.

Supervisors F and G and her resignation would defeat any causal conhettiean those events. Moreover, her
claim of constructive discharge stems from her allegation that her jotnsbilities were removed following her
return from a four month leave under the Family and Medical Leave Act fFLNdl. 19303-11. When she

requested the leave, her superviswid Ms. Moore that her request would not be apprdévied J 304.

Nevertheless, Moore took the leave, returning to work in October, a0@gstover[] that [CFSA] had stopped her
paychecks, removed her name from the pot@r system, and given her position, office and staff to a newly hired
employe€. Id. { 308. There is no allegation that Moosdeave request was denied for any discriminatory reason or
that any other similarly situated supervisors were granted leguests when her request was deniBaking a

leave for an extended period of four months after a supervisor has caratadrihat the leave was not approved
provides a legitimate reason for the actions taken by CFSA and woelat tief claim of constrtice discharge.
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Even assuming that the complaints Moore made to human resources in 2001, 2005 and
2007 preceding her detail as a “hotline caseworker,” were timely and statptotidygted
activity, she would still fail to state a cognizable retaliation claim for two reasorss, Her
temporary detail does not constitute an adverse employment action. The Second Amended
Complaint is replete with allegations about the surge in child abuse and negldst aépothe
Jacks tragedy that overwhelmed the caseworkers at CPS with backloggedwaseswas one
of four supervisors rassigned to CPS to assist with this sungeases. While Moore alleges
that she was the only such supervisor demoted to caseworker, sim@daksge that her pay
was docked or her benefits diminished in any way or that this temporasgiginment had any
practical consequenceSeeMungin 116 F.3dat 1557 (“[C]hanges in assignments or work-
related duties do not ordinarily constitute adeeemployment actions if unaccompanied by a
decrease in salary or work hour changesdondiji v. Inerpark Ing 768 F. Supp. 2d. 264, 282
(D.D.C. 2011) (transfer to undesirable location was not materially adverse emeplogction
since plaintiff did nballege any “objectively tangible harm’ such as a decrease in salary or
benefits”);Martin v. Locke 659 F. Supp. 2d 140, 148 (D.D.C. 20(0@)ding plaintiff failed to
show that her job transfer constituted an adverse employment action when sheatletadter
pay or grade was reduced)he fact that she felt “humiliated” is unfortunate but does not turn
this event into an adverse employment actiSeeBaird, 662 F.3d at 124@lleged episodes are
“akin to the sort of ‘public huthation or loss ofreputation’ that . . fall[] below the
requirements for an adverse employment at}tion

Even if the tangible benefits remain the same, a transfer that involves thenpatm
withdrawal of an employé® supervisory responsibilities may amount to a demotion and an

adverse employment actiosee Geleta v. @y, 645F.3d 408, 412 (D.C. Cir. 201{naterially
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adverse employment action due to retaliation may be shown where plaintiff proxiaiesce
that he was transferred from supervisory position overseeing twenty engptoyeeeesk job
where he supervisatb one);Pardo-Kronemann v. Donovaf01 F.3d 599, 608 (D.C. Cir.
2010)(allegedly retaliatory transfer from a legal to Hegal job could qualify as an adverse
employment action)Czekalski v. Peteyd75 F.3d 360, 364 (D.C. Cir. 2007). By contrast to
these cited cases, however, Moore’s transfer was not permanent. Furthertr@eontext of
the serious workload increase that CPS faced, as ldeddy the plaintiffs in their Complaint,
the legitimate reasons for managenmst@mporaryre-assignmendf Moore to assist in
addressing the serious surge in reports of child neglect and abuse, appears torhave bee
appropriate.Baloch 550 F.3cat 1191 (courts should not engage judicial micromanagement
of business practices by secagukssing employerdecisions’) (citation omitted) In fact,
Moore alleges that she was very effectivéer detailed positioand ‘tlosed approximately a
thousand investigations.” Compl. § 29Rather than a discriminatory or retaliatory actluer,
temporary reassigmentappears to have been a sound administrative step to make effective use
of personnel to deal with a significant workload problem. Moreover, Moore was reth&iat
her supervisory position one year after her detail and “given a staff.” Co2@R. This is
probative evidence that the management decision to give her a temporary detaillthve
invidious motivation since that would be inconsistent with the decision to reinstaten feehe
words,her claim is “seriously undercubly the allegabn that the same managers who
discriminatedagainst her also reinstated h&vaterhouse v. District of Columbia98 F.3d 989,
996 (D.C. Cir. 2002) (attributing racial animus to person who hired plaintiff “seriouslyautter
claim that plaintiff was teninated on account of her racege also/atel v. Alliance of Auto.

Mfrs., 627 F.3d 1245, 1247 (D.C. Cir. 20Xfjct that employer initially selected plaintifis*
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probative evidence that [employer] did miécriminate against [plaintiff] on accountloér race
or gender when he dismissed her later tleaty.

Secondthe complaints she made2001, 2005 and 2007 to human resources are not
close in time to when she was detailed to be a caseworkes undermines significantly any
causal link betweethe purported protected activity and the allegedly retalid¢éonporaryre-
assignment.

In sum, Moore has failed to allege that she engaged in protected activity and,sieen if
did, her temporary re-assignment does not constitute an adverse enmglagtion, let alone a
retaliatory act caused by her complaints, sufficient to state a claim foatietali

Accordingly, the defendarg’motion to dismiss the claims of retaliation by Plaintiffs
Peters, McCall and Moore is granted

E. Constitutional Claims Under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 and § 1981

The plaintiffs assert discrimination claims und@rU.S.C. § 1983 and § 1981, “which do
not require administrative exhaustion.” Pls.” Mem. at 11. Specifically, the Secoadded
Complaint states that “Defeadtg’] acts, policies, practices and procedures . . . violated
Plaintiffs’ rights secured by the Due Process Clause of the Fifth Ameridmthe U.S.
Constitution.” Compl., Prayer for Relief at 58(algvaluation of the factual allegations pertinent
to each of thee constitutionatlaimsasserted on behalf of all nine plaintiffs wouldabe
challenge since, as the defendant points“fpitlaintiffs make no effort to tie these claims to a
specific statute.” Def.’s Mem. at 12evertheless, the claimsffr the fatal flaw of not

sufficiently alleging a custom or practice of the municipality to support them.
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1. Legal Standard

Section 1983 authorizes equitable relief aathpensatory damages against “[e]very
person who, under color ahy [law] . . . custom, or usagef any State or . . . the District of
Columbia, subjects, or causes to be subjected . . . any . .. person. .. to the deprivation of any
rights . . . secured by the Constitution and laws . . ..” 42 U.S.C. §T@B8tatea claim under
section 1983, plaintiffs must allege facts sufficient to show not just a coiestétlviolation, but
that the District of Columbia had a policy or custom that caused the alleged violatieir of t
constitutional rights.Jones v. Horng634 F.3d 588, 601 (D.C. Cir. 201Warren v. Digtict of
Columbig 353 F.3d 36, 38-39 (D.C. Cir. 2004ge also Monell v. D&pof Soc. Servs. of N..Y
436 U.S. 658, 690-91 (1978%arneskl v. District of Columbia No. 08-2233, 2012 U.S. Dist.
LEXIS 8961, at *§D.D.C. Jan. 25, 2012)The Districtas a municipal corporatiois a
“person” for purposes of section 1983 liabilit?laintiffs may show causation exists in several
ways: (1) if “the municipality or one of its policymakers explicitly adopted thieythat was
‘the moving forceof the constitutional violation’id. at 20 (quotingVarren 353 F.3d at 39); (2)
if “a policymaker. . . knowingly ignore[d] a practice that was consistent enough to constitute
custom,”Warren 353 F.3d aB9 (citation omitted); or (3) if the District government failed to
respond “to a need . . . in such a manner as to show deliberate indifference to the risk that not
addressing the need will result in constitutional violatidn®Varren 353 F.3d at 39 (quoting
Baker v. Digtict of Columbia 326 F.3d 1302, 1306 (D.C. Cir. 2003)) (internal quotation marks
removed. The D.C. Circuit has made clear that causation involves more than mere negligenc
and “means that, faced with actual or constructive knowledge that its agenisobibly violate
constitutional rights, the [District government] may not adopt a policy of orattWarren 353

F.3d at 39.

Page 71 of 94



A cause of action under § 198faybe brought when a plaintiff has suffered an injury
flowing from the raciallymotivated breach of his contractual relationship with another party.
Dominds Pizza v. McDonald546 U.S. 470, 480 (2006). Violation of the rights guaranteed by 8
1981 by state entities can be remedied exclusively through the cause of@atiamages
created by 8 198 Jett v. Dallas Indep. Sch. Dis#91 U.S. 701, 733 (1989). To prevail on a
claim under 8 1981 against the District, therefore, a plaintiff must show that thisoviafhis
“right to make contractrotected by 8 1981 was caused by a custom larypwithin the
meaning oMonelland subsequent casedd. at 735-36Hamilton v. Districtof Columbia 720
F. Supp. 2d 102, 113-14 (D.D.C. 2010).

2. Analysis

The plaintiffs’ allegations do not establish that a custom, policy or practice Biskrict
of Columbia caused their alleged injuries, which is fatal to their claims under 42.1881981
and 1983. Other than conclusory allegations in the prefatory section of the Second Amended
Complaint, the plaintiffs do not allege that any Districtasdil explicitly condoned, knowingly
ignored, orfailed to respond in a manner showatgiberate indifference tdiscriminatory
activity based on race, age or national origithin CFSA On the contrary, the allegations
make clear that steps were takeraddress perceived or overt discriminatory activity at CFSA.
For example, when employees complained of abusive conduct on the part of Supervisor A,
Supervisor B convened a meeting about the complaints and assured employees, is@inding
of the plaintffs, thatthere would be no retaliation. Compl. Y 7149119-22. Similarly, when
a Nigerian caseworker and Afric#merican employee had an altercation in the workplace and

yelled racial epithets, “both workers were suspendédl.Jf 536-40. When Moore complained

Page 72 of 94



about Supervisor F's conduct towards her in 2001, Supervisor F was prompted to apologize to
her. Id. 1 259.

Moreover, among the plaintiffs are several supervisors and management pesgannel
allege expressly that they took actions to stop any perceived discriminatetal@tion. For
example, plaintiff Courtdarshall, who was “put in charge of the Child Protective Services
Administration at the Child and Family Services Agendy, Y 570, alleges that she “refused to
fire any of the people on the list” whom she believed were put on the list “for retaliatory
reasons.”’ld. 11617-18. She also instructed “program managers,” who aréened-
management at CFSA, to help “supervisors whose names were on thilli§t820. In fact,
she alleges that she “launched a campaign to make sure that all social workeesttzaalinig
and support they needed to perform their jobdd.”f 619. In addition, plaintiff Meade was a
training supervisor in CPS and she claims that “Human Resources offeredgivansing on
topics like race discrimination and sexual harassmentId. J 514. These allegations make
clear that the District did not have a custom or policy that caused any alggesiof the
plaintiffs.

Accordingly, the faintiffs’ discrimination claims under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 and § 1981
cannot be sustained and will be dismissed.

F. District of Columbia Human Rights ActClaims

The Second Amended Complaint asserts that the plaintiffs notified the Mayarésaif
the instant civil action against the city on December 21, 2009, and that the “DisCizliuofbia
Government’s Office of Risk Management reviewed the claims, determined thavemntort
issues, and closed the files.” Compl. 5. Among the claims asserted is one fatalgciard
injunctive relief and damages to protect and redress “deprivation of reghtgesd by the District

of Columbia Human Rights Act of 1977 (‘DCHRA”")d. { 12. The eéfendant argues that the
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plaintiffs failed to comply witlthe notice requirements of D.C. Code § 12-309, which operates
as a sixmonth statute of limitations for certain claims asserted against the District of Columbia.
and therefore lpintiff's’ DCHRA claims should be dismissé&d

The defendant is correct tHatC. Code 8§ 12-308perates as a sixonth statute of
limitations for certain claims asserted against the District of Colunibis.well settled that
state law notice requirements apply only to state law claims and do not bar fgeckstadn
claims. Morton v. Ostrict of Columbia HousAuth, 720 F. Supp. 2d 1, 6 (D.D.C. 2010) (citing
Daskalea v. Distct of Columbia 227 F.3d 433, 446 (D.C. Cir. 2000) ffe six-month notice
requirement of the D.C. Code does not apply to plaintiff's claim under section 198&wgido
v. District of Columbia242 F.R.D. 151, 158-59 (D.D.C. 2007) (holding that the notice
requirement of D.C. Code § 12-309 does not bar federal due process claim)). Thus, the only
claim asserted by plaintiffs subject@oC. Code § 12-308 the DCHRA claim.

D.C. Code § 12-309 providésat

An action may not be maintained against the District of Columbia
for unliquidated damages to person or property unless, within six
months after the injury or damage was sustained, the claimant, his
agent, omattorney has given notice in writing to the Mayor of the
District of Columbia of the approximate time, place, cause, and
circumstances of the injury or damagiereport in writing by the
Metropolitan Police Department, in regular course of duty, is a
sufficient notice under this section.

Here, paintiffs filed this lawsuit on October 28, 2009 and filed their first amended
complaint, which added several new plaintiffs, on December 10, 2009. According to their

Second Amended Complaintgmitiffs allege thathey“notified the Mayors Office of this civil

* A motion to dismiss pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) rather than Rule 12(b)tti¢ ¢federal Rules of Civil Procedure is
appropriate becaus&ecton 12309 is not jurisdictional . . . Unlike a jurisdictional bar, the Sectie802 ground
for dismissal of an action is simply penalty for noncompliancé. BlockerBurnette v. Digict of Columbia

730 F. Supp. 2d 200, 202 & n.2 (D.D.C. 2010) (quoSagders v. District of Columhi&lo. 971238, 2002 U.S.
Dist. LEXIS 6818, at *5 (Apr. 15, Z12)).
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action against the District of Columbia on December 21, 2009.” Compl. § 5. However, a party
must provide notice under 8§ 12-3p8or to filing a lawsuit. See Campbell v. Distt of

Columbig 568 A.2d 1076, 1077-78 (D.C. 1990) (holding that “notice must have been given
before suit); McGee v. Districof Columbia 646 F. Supp. 2d 115, 121 (D.D.C. 2009){he

claims . .. are barred because the plaintiff did not provide notice to the mayor anfiliaft

his lawsuit?). Any notice provided on December 21, 2009, therefore, would not satisfy the
requirements of D.C. Code § 12-309.

Plaintiffs argue thaD.C. Code 8§ 12-309 only applies to “personal injury and property
damage claims,Pls.” Mem. at 29but courts have specifically held tHatC. Code § 12-309
applies to DCHRA actionsSee Giardino v. Disict of Columbia 252 F.R.D. 18, 23 (D.D.C.
2008);see also Owens v. Digtt of Columbia 993 A.2d 1085, 1087-89 (D.C. 2010).
Accordingly, plaintiffs’ claimsunder the DCHRA must be dismissed.

V. PLAINTIFFS -INTERVENORS’ MOTIONS TO INTERVENE

The plaintiffs seek to double the number Eiptiffs in this suit with twamotions to
permitnine additional currerdr former employees of CFSA matervene a plaintiffsof right,
under either Rule 24(a)(2), or permissively, under Rule 24(p). FE Civ. P. 24; Movants’ Mot.
to Intervene, ECF No. 24First Motion”); Movants’ Second Mot. to Intervene, ECF No. 27
(“Second Motion”)*® Since the Court has graut the defendant’s motion to dismiss the Second
Amended Complaint, the motions to intervene must be denied as moot. Even if any part of the
original claims remained, the motions to intervene would be denied on the meritsriEagbes

set forth below.

33 The Court notes that the First Motion seeks interverfiimmsuant td-ep. R. Clv. P. 24(a)” yet asks for
“permissive intervention as plaintiffs in this actiorkirst Motion, at 1.The Second Motion simply does not
specify under which prong of Rule 24 the Movants seek to inten@aeond Motion, at-B. Nevertheless, the
Court construes these motions as seeking intervention both as of rigigramdsively. SeeMovants Reply Mem.,
ECF No. 26, at 1 (clarifpg thatMovantsare seeking imrvention under Rule 24(aand/of Rule 24 (b).
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The defendant opposes both of the motions to intervene. Def.’s Opp’n to First Mot. to
Intervene (“Def.’s Opp’n First Mot.”), ECF No. 2bef’s Oppn to Second Mot.d Intervene
(“Def.’s Opp’n Second Mot.”), ECF No. 28. The defendant contends that thevauid-be
plaintiff-intervenas (“Movants”) should not be granted leave to intervene since the allegations
underlying their claims are sufficiently different thia¢ requirements for intervention under both
Rule 24(a)(2) and (b) are not satisfied. The Court agrees.

In the discussion that follows, the Court will first review the legal standardsabplgito
both prongs of Rule 24 and then describe in detail the Movants’ claims, in order to eveduate t
differences in those claims from those of the plaintiffs, since thoseetitfes are the basis for
the defendant’s objection to these motions. Finally, the Court will assess iteahtre
motions for intervention based upon the applicable legal standards.

A. Legal StandardFor Intervention

Rule 24of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedwets forth the requirements for both
intervention as of right angermissive interventianSeeFeD. R.Civ. P.24 (a) & (b). While
“[i]n theory” a court has “no discretion when intervention is under Rule 24(a),” 7C Wright
Miller & Kane, Federal Practice & Procedure, § 1938 ed. 2007)practically speaking, even
this basis for intervention involves “a measure of judicial discretion . Futrid for Animals v.
Norton 322 F.3d 728, 732 (D.C. Cir. 2003) (citigass.Sch of Law at Andover v. United
States 118 F.3d 776, 779 (D.C. Cir. 199npfing ‘the existence of district court discretion over
the timeliness and adequacy of repreg@ntassues under Rule 24(a)(2)”)). If there is no right
to intervene under Rule 24(a), “it is wholly discretionary with the court whethdowo a
intervention under Rule 24(b),” but only if the movamas a claim or defense that shares with
the main action a comon question of law or fact.” 7@/right, Miller & Kane, Federal Rctice
& Procedure, 8§ 1913 (3d ed. 2007) (quotimpR. Civ. P.24(b)(1)(B)). The movants’ motions
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will be considered under each prong of Rule 24.
1. Intervention of Right

Rule 24(a)(2) states in relevant part:

On timely motion, the court must permit anyone to intervene who . . . claims an

interest relating to the property or transaction that is the subject of tbe,aoid is

so situated that disposing of the action may as a practical matter impair or impede

the movant's ability to protect its interest, unless existing parties adequately

represent that interest.

The Court of Appeals for the D.C. Circuit has parsed the language of Rule 24(a)(2) to
require four factors in order for a movant to qualify for intervention of rigt): the timelings
of the motion; (2) whether the applicaims an interest relating to the property or transaction
which is the subject of the action; (3) whettrex applicant is so situated that the disposition of
the action may as a practical matter impair or inepibe @plicant's aility to protect that
interest; and (4) whether the applicant’s interest is adequately represemtasdting parties.”
Fund for Animals322 F.3dat 731 (quotingMova Pharm. Corp. v. Shalgla40 F.3d 1060, 1074
(D.C. Cir. 1998))Karsner v. Lothian532 F.3d 876, 885 (D.C. Cir. 2008). Additionally, the
proposed intervenor seeking to participate on equal footing with the original pauttiessuit
must demonstrate standing under Article Il of the Constituttmmes v. Prince Gege's Cnty,
348 F.3d 1014, 1017 (D.C. Cir. 2003)Rtrospective intervenors in this circuit must possess
standing under Article Il of the Constitutioly.’Norton, 322 F.3d at 731-32jnited States v.
Philip Morris USA 566 F.3d 1095, 1146 (D.C. Cir. Z)QCtr. for Biological Diversity v. EPA
274 F.R.D. 305, 308 (D.D.C. 2011 re ESA Litig, 270 F.R.D. 1, 4 (D.D.C. 2010).

To establish standing under Article Ill, a prospective intervenor must show: ¢t she

has suffered an “injury in facthatis (a) concrete and particularized and (b) actual or imminent,

not conjectural or hypothetical; (2) the injury is fairly traceable to the clygtlesrction of the
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defendant; and (3) it is likely, as opposed to merely speculative, that the injurg vedressed
by a favorable decisionSeel.ujan v. Defenders of Wildlif&04 U.S. 555, 560-61 (199%8ierra
Club v. EPA 292 F.3d 895, 898 (D.C. Cir. 2002)he requisite showing for standing of injury-
in-fact and causation are closely related to the skaad third factors under Rule 24(a), which
require a showing of interest in the subject matter of the lawsuit and théigatepairment of
that interest absent intervention in the s@ee, e.gRoeder v. Islamic Republic of IraB33

F.3d 228, 233 (D.C. Cir. 2003) (“[A]ny person who satisfies Rdl@Rwill also meet Article
lII's standing requirement); Defenders of Wildlife v. JacksoNo. 10-1915, 2012 U.S. Dist.
LEXIS 35750, at *10 (D.D.C. Mar. 18, 2012) (noting that outcome is the same whether standing
is considered separately or as part of Rule 24(a)(2) interest requireraatshiak Native Cmty.
v. U.S. Deft of Interior, 584 F. Supp. 2d 1, 7 (D.D.C. 2008) (“The standing ingsirgpetitive
in the case of intervention as of right because an intervenor who satisfies Rul@ik4{ad
have Article 11l standing.”)

2. Permissive Intervention

Rule 24(b) authorizes permissive intervention for a movant who timely files a motion
where a federal statute confers a conditional right to interee the applicard’claim or defense
has a question of law or fact in common with the main actistrict of Columbia v. Potomac
Elec. Power Cq.No. 11-282, 2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 1383H1;8-9 (D.D.C. Dec. 1, 2011)
(citing Envtl. Def. v. Leavitt329 F. Supp. 2d 55, 65 (D.D.C. 2004) ard.RR.Civ. P. 24(b)).
Under Rule 24(b)(2)a wouldbe intervenor must show “(1) an independent ground for subject
matter jurisdiction; (2) a timely motion; and (3) a claim or defense that hastaoguedaw or
fact in common with the main actiéh. Potomac Elec. Power Ca2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS

138317, at *qciting EEOC v. Nat Children's Ctr, 146 F.3d 1042, 1046 (D.C. Cir. 1998))
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(internal quotations omitted}. As previously noted, the decision to alloveymissive

intervention under Rule 24(b) is committed to the district ceutiscretion.ld. (citing Nat |
Childrenis Ctr,, 146 F.3d at 1046, 1048)n exercising its discretion to allow permissive
intervention, the Court must consider whether the proposed intervention “will unduly delay or
prejudice the adjudication of the original partieghts” FeD. R.Civ. P.24(b).

B. The Movants’ Claims

Thenine Movantsnclude seven former CFSA employees (Patricia Ivey, Delores
Junious, Emmanuael Mbadiugha, Sophia Mickieesis, Nicky Odaka, Njideka Odiana and
Fidelia Phillipg and two current CFSA employedde(lie Lahiaand Edwin Monono). Unlike
the plaintiffs, who complain about their treatment while employed at CPS, onlyofities
Movants(lvey, Lahai,MickensLewis) were employed within this component of the CFSA. The
other six Movants complain about their treatment in the following components of Q&SA:
Home and Reunification Services, the Family Stabilization Branchthandcensing &

Monitoring Division. Only one of the Movansgerved as a CFSA supervisor or manager
(MickensLewis) and the remaindare noammanagerial employeed.he Movantswere

employed at CFSA for varying lengths of time, ranging from about eiglyes's to only a few
years. As with the nine plaintiffs, all nine of tfdovantsclaim that they were discriminated
against on the basis of race and subjected to a hostile work environment during at least som
portion of their employment at CFSA. In addition, sixtegMovants (Junious, Mbadiugha,
MickensLewis, Monono, Odiana and Phillipslaim retaliation; siXMovants(Lahia,

Mbadiugha, Monono, Odaka, Odiaaad Phillips) claim discrimination on the basis of national

origin; andtwo Movants (Mbadiugha and Mononcdaim age discrimination.

* Whether standing ialsorequired for permissive intervention in this Circuit is an unresolveris3eeln re
Vitamins Antitrust Class Actiong215 F.3d 26, 3B2 (D.C. Cir. 2000)tn re Endangered Sjies Act Section 4
Deadline Litig, 277 F.R.D. 1, 8 (D.D.C. 2011y re ESA Litig, 270 F.R.D1, 6, n.5 (D.D.C2010).
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According to documents submitted by the plaintiffs, Phillips has received a@ BEEQ-
to-sue letter and three other unnamed Movants have filed charges with the EEOC Imaithave
yet received their rightio-sue letters. Pls.” EEOC Docs., ECF No. 30. Apparently, the five other
Movants have not filed complaints with the EEOC, let alone exhausted any adnmeistra
remedy.

The Title VIl and ADEA discrimination claims asserted by each Movant are stpatha

in the chart below.

Movant — Discrimination based upon: Hostile Work | Retaliation
CFSA Race National Environment
Component | (Black) Origin Age Gender

Monono — |+ N \ (53) NO \ V
Licensing & (Cameroon)
Monitoring
Division

lvey — N NO NO (58) | NO N NO
CPS

Odiana- N v (Nigerian) | NO (34) | NO N N
In-Home &
Reunification
Services

Phillips- N v (Nigerian) | NO (53) | NO N v
In-Home &
Reunification
Services

Mbadiugha— | / v (Nigerian) | V (55) NO \ v
In-Home &
Reunification
Services

Lahai- N \ (Sierra NO (62) | NO N NO
CPS Leone)

Odaka— V \ (Nigerian) | NO (41) | NO \ NO
In-Home &
Reunification
Services

Junious— N, NO NO (47) | NO N, N,
Family
Stabilization
Branch
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Mickens N, NO NO (44) | NO N, N,
Lewis—- CPS
Administrator

Just as the summary chart above reflects differences in the claims assented by t
Movants, hefactual allegations underlying the claims of discrimination, hostile work
environment and retaliatory actions vary amenagh of thenine Movants, as described in more
detail below.

1. Non-Managerial Movants

Edwin Monono is a 53year old black man from Cameroon, who worked &8
caseworkem three time periodgrom 1993 until 1996, from 1997 until 2001, and again from
2008 through the Spring of 2008hen he wasletailed from the Licensing and Monitoring
Division to CPS “due to massive backlogs following the Jacks tragedy.” FirstBAotl,
Compl.dn-Intervention (“First Compl.-Int.”), ECF No. 24-1{ 2622, 39, 48. Monono claims
racial and national origin discrimination, hostile work environment and retaliats@d lngoon
allegationsinter alia, that (1) his workplace issaturated with stereotypes about Africans being
dishonest, lazy, and just it in for the monay,”] 26;(2) “American social workers made
derogatory comments about the skin complexions, facial features, and acceinicsaof A
caseworkers,id. 11 25, 27; (3) during his 2008 detail to CPS, he worked in excess of 40 hours
per week but did not submit overtime pay requests because his managers acaocesedd@dial
workers of “stealing overtiméand threateneAfrican social workersvith audits and
disciplinary actionshe nevertheless “wanted to continue working in [CPi8],19 406; (4)
upon his transfer back to the Licensing and Monitoring Dividienyas assigned more cases

than his American cavorkers,id. 1 49; (5) “[iln 2010,” he complained about the “impropriety of
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a particular assignmeh&ndwas“written up” by SupervisoK,* id. { 50; and (6) despite
requests to be transferred to other units, he remains assigned the sameosgrerViontinues
to be harassetdywhile American caseworkers who complained about the same supervisor were
transferredid. 1 5053.

Patricia Ivey is a 58year old AfricarAmerican woman, who worked a<#S
caseworker from 2005 until she resigned in August 200&t Compl:Int. 1 5559. Ivey
claims racial discrimination and hostile work environment, which interfered rtalility to
do her jobjd. 1 9798. Ivey provides no allegation of any action taken against her jpdgson
but bases her claims on her observatibas (1)black caseworkerdrom Africa and the
Caribbean Islands, were bullied by their supervisods,f 61 (2) African caseworkers were
warned not to submit overtime pay requests and managers accusad Afrcial workers of
“stealing overtimeand “threatenetlAfrican caseworkers with audits and disciplinary actions,
id. 711 7276; and (3) from 2005 to 2008, she observed SupervisgoAstantly harass a
Nigerian caseworkerand a Jamaican casework&ngellaPeters, whose repeated requests to be
transferred to other units were deniet 11 83, 86, 87-91.

Nellie Lahai is a 62year old black woman from Sierra Leone, who has worked for
CFSA for about 18 years and as a CPS caseworker from 2003 until January, 2009, when she was
“involuntarily transferred” tadhe Licensing and Monitorindivision. Second Mot., Ex. 1,
Compl.-in-Intervention, ECF No. 27-¢Second Compiint.”), 1911-12, 15, 59.Lahai claims
discrimination on the basis of race and national origitaliation andhostile work environment,
based upon allegations that (1) SupervispwHo became CP®rogram administrator in 2004,

“created a lot of racial tension at the agehity, | 24; (2) in the Fall of 200%.ahai filed a

% Supervisor K is unnamed dthe Complaint provides no raoeethnic information about this supervisdd.
50.
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grievance agast SupervisoH, who demoted Lahai, assigned her more cases than American
caseworkers, and denied her overtime pay requds{g§|30-34; (3) in October, 200kahai
expressed concern to the agency director about Supervisor H, who was removed as @RS prog
administratoy but “Lahai continued to be harassed by her supervigdrq|f 4045; (5) by June,
2008, Lahal'had the largest caseload of any caseworker in Child Protective Services and [] was
completely overwhelmetlbut “was never firedland “was rot given anything to do for
approximately six monthsjd. 1 52, 57-58; and (6) in January, 208@er her transfer to the
Licensing and Monitorin@ivision, Lahai continues to be treated less favorably than her
American ceworkers,id. Y 60.

Njideka Odianais a 34year old, black woman from Nigeria, who worked at CFSKy
Home and Reunification Services and in the Licensing and Monitoring Divrgion2001 to
2009, when she was terminatdéirst Compl:int. 1 102, 103, 105, 1645he claims racial @ah
national origin discrimination, hostile work environment and retaliation based upoatialieg
that (1)between 2001 and 2003, when she was assignaeHome and Reunification Services,
American social workers hired at the same time asveine autom@cally promoted upon
completion of their one-year probationary period, while Odiana was not profootsleral
years,d. 11 114-16; (2) after resigning from CFSA in 2007, she was re-hired in 2008 and
assigned to In-Home and Reunification Serviceseatsbdf the assignment she expected in a
collaborative position in order to have a regular schedule for her to care fordeyadling
children,id. 11 12733; (3) in February 2009, Odiana wdenied transfeto a collaborative
position until completion of a one year probationary period, even though some newly hired
American social workers wesssignedo the collaborative positiomnd. Y 14-48, 151-53, 161-

64; (4) after Odiana complained about not being transferred, two supervisors, Supeavid
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Supervisor M2 wrote her up in May 2009, September, 2009, and December 2009, the last of
which resulted in her terminatioil. 19 15464.

Fidelia Phillips is a 53year old, black woman from Nigeria, who, like Movant Odiana,
worked at CFSAs InHome and Reunification Services from to 2001 to 208t Compl:int.
19 16869. She claims racial and national origin discrimination, hostile work environment and
retaliation based upon allegations that (1) after taking family leave, ir2®@4, her Supervisor
N3’ was“visibly hostilé towards her, prompting Phillips to complain to the project manager and
program administrator about the hostile treatmenf]f 185-91; (2) in December, 2004, a new
supervisor (“Supervisor 0% was also hostile towards her but gaee & “satisfactory” job
performance witlfvery deogatory commenf$which prompted her to request a transfer to
another supervisor but her request was denied, wiwig American caseworkéersvere
transferredafter complaining about Supervisor i@. 1 B4-204; (3) between 2006 and 2008,
Phillips was assigned‘aignificantly heaviefcaseloaff than her American eworkers,
requiring her to work long hours, but the agency consistently refused to approyesPhill
overtime pay requestsl. 11 206-08; and (4) after a family leave in 2005, despite Supe@isor
advice not to file &an interim report,Phillips was reprimanded for not having filed the report,
which was théfirst of several questionable write ups that would result in PHillggsnination in

2008” id. 11 210-14.

% Supervisor Lis Elaina McKenzie and Supervisor M is Maura Gaswifthe First Complaintn-Intervention
provides no racer ethnic information about either of these supervistits{{ 154, 157.

37 Superviso is Diane Robinson, about whom thizst Complaintin-Intervention provides no race or ethnic
information. Id. § 180.

3 SupervisolO is Haylee Liss, about whom tiérst Complaintin-Intervention provides no race or ethnic
information. Id. 1 196.

Page 84 of 94



Emmanuel Mbadiughais a 55year old black man from Nigeria, who worked for
CFSA's InHome and Reunification Services, from 1998 until June 2010, when he was
terminated.First Compl:Int. 11 219-20, 223, 269. He claims racial, age and national origin
discrimination, hostile work environment and retaliation based upon allegations thaic{l) bl
caseworkers, particularly those from Africa and the Caribbean Islands, wiged by their
supervisors and American social workers made derogatory comments about Afrikarsyar
11217-18, 246(2) he was assigned a heavy caseload relative to his Americaorkersbut his
supervisors discouraged himfnanaking overtime pay requesis, 11 24549; (3) in 1999, his
Supervisor P’ becamehostile towards him when he left work for his child’s biith,{ 241-43;

(4) Mbadiugha’s requests in 2003 for transfer to CPS and, in 2004, for a supervisor’s position
were deniedid. 11 248-57; (5) between 2005 and 2008, Mbadiugha was written upbtice
Supervisor @ for being late for a court hearing and late filings of case plans with the cour
each resulting in a suspensiengn though “caseworkers are rarely disciplinied these
mattersjd. 7 262-66; and (6) in 2010, Mbadiughaew supervisor £ wrote up Mbadigha for
filing case plans with the court after a deadline, which resulted in his termindti§ifi 267-69.

Nicky Odaka is a 41year old black woman from Nigeria, who has worked for ten years
as a social services assistant in CESIA-Homeand Reunification Servicessecond Compl.-
Int. 1 62, 64-67 She claims racial and national origin discrimination, and hostile work

environment based upon allegations that (1) she routinely worked over 40 hours per week but did

39 SupervisoP is Theresa Cunngham, about whom thiirst Complaintin-Intervention provideso raceor ethnic
information. Id. § 241.

0 SupervisoQ is Andrea Brunson, about whom thizst Complaintin-Intervention provides no race ethnic
information. Id. 1 262.

*1 SupervisomR is Madeline Jackse@ooper, Aout whom theFirst Complaintin-Intervention provides no race or
ethnic information.ld. 19267-68.
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not submit overtim@ay requests because h@named supervisor discouraged her from doing
so,id. T 73; (2) she observed that African caseworkers were assigned more cagesdhaan
counterparts, were blamed and disciplined when excessive caseloads led to praoillems, a
“routinely heard American co-workers making derogatory comments abaoaddt” including
“criticiz[ing] African complexias, facial features and accehtsl,. {1 6979.

Delores Juniousis a 47year old black woman, whuoas been terminated twice from
CFSA's Family Stabilization BrangHirst in 2001 and again in 2008. Second Cortgl. [ 87
90. She claims racial discrimination, hostil®tk environment and retaliatidrasedupon
allegationghat (1) in April and May 1999, Junious “advocated on behaflfd new ceworker
in the Family Stabilization Branch and complained to management about discriminator
assignment of more casesato entrylevel African American social worker thanegperienced
white social workers, by her white supervisor, Supervisdtis, 11 82, 92-100; (2) itate 1999,
Junious was harassed and disciplibgdhernewblack supervisor, Supervisdr** prompting
Junious to complain to management and leading to her 2002 termingtfnh L0106; (3)
following her reinstatement in 2005, Jurious was assigned to the training unit, “noagive
regular assignmeritnot promoted to a grade 12 and “never allowed to work overtirdef{
108-13; and (4) “despite having hundreds of hours of ledle,agency refused to recognize her
leave ad “declared her Absent without Leave (AWOL) despite pre-approving her leave
requests leading to her second termination in 20@B Y1 11415.

2. Managerial Movant

One of the MovantsSophia MickensLewis, was a senior manager and acting program

admnistrator atCPS during the time period when the plaintiffs dalvants clainthat

2 SupervisorSis Donna GeraciSecond Compllnt.  92.
3 SupervisoiT is Emma Norfleet.ld. § 101.
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discriminatory and retaliatory conduct occurrédickensLewis complains about a hostile work

environment during the time thlaer immediate supervisor was plaintiff Couarshall.
MickensLewisis a 44year old African American woman, who worked @PS as a

supervisor from 2000 to 2001, as a program manager from 2002 to 2003, as the acting program

administrator from 2003-2004, and as a program manager from 2004 to 2008, during which time

in the fall of 2005, she served as the CPS acting program administrator, when\NCaostaH

was her immediate supervisdfirst Compl.int. {9 27685. She claims racial discrimination,

hostile work environment from 2004 to 2008, and retaliation based upon allegations that (1) in

January 2006, the deputy director of the CFSA, SuperkismtructedCourtsMarshall to

terminate“about 15 social workers,” but Mickenswis, together with Courtdarshall and

Supervisor B, determined that the social workers on the termination list were performing they

[sic] jobs wellbut had complained about [SupervisosHliscriminatory practicesjd. 11 296-

310, 326; (2on two occasions, in 2007 and 2008, Supendisiinected Mickend_ewis to

terminate apparently two different African caseworkers, one of whom was the safigeta

complaint from a family he was investigatingyit afterinvestigation, Mickend-ewis refused to

terminate the caseworkerd, 11 332, 335, 351-52; and (3) in May, 2008, Supervisor |

terminated Mickeng.ewis becausé[y]ou all did not do what I told you to dad. 1 360-63.

C. Discussion

The Movants argue that they should be permitted to intervene “because Intermenors a
Plaintiffs share common claims against Defenida terms of facts, evidence, and legal
theories.” First Complint., at 2. Specifically, the Movants state that both the Movants and
plaintiffs allege they worked “in a hostile work environment at the Child and ¥#&uailices

Agency during the past ten years. The hostile work environment was discoirpiaati
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retaliatory.” Movants’ Reply Mem., ECF No. 29, at 1-2; MovafsplyMem., ECF No. 26, at
2.

The Defendant counters that the pending motions to intervene should be denied since
each Movanhas “an independent right of action that he or she can pursue regardless of the
outcome of this proceeding.” Def.’s Opp’n to First Mot., ECF No. 25, att®8;s Oppn to
SecondMot., ECF No. 28, at 2-3. Consequently, according to the defendant, the Movants cannot
make the requisite showing that, absent intervention, their interests would be impeded or
impairedunder Rule 24(a)(2). In addition, the defendant argues that permissive intervention
under Rule 24(b) should be denied because joining the msviéegally distinct” claims would
“expand the scope of the issues before the Court and delay the current proceda@figs.”

Opp’n to First Motat 3; Def.s Oppn to Second Mot. at 4. Even if these motions were not
moot, for these and other reasons discussed below, the Court agrees with the deféritiant tha
Movants would not be permitted to intervene.

1. Movants WouldNot Be Entitled to Intervene Of Right

The defendant does not dispute that the Movants have st&hdargheir satisfaction of
thefirst and last requirements for intervention of right under Rule 24(a)(2), and the Gaas a
that, if not moot, the Movants’ intervention motions would be timely and their interests would
not be adequately represented by the existing parties. Thealdefemgues only that Movants
cannot meet either trecond or thirdequiremenrd for intervention as of rightSeeDef.’s

Opp’n to Second Mot. at 2-3. Specifically, the defendant contends that the Movants do not have

“4 A prospective intervents Article 11l standingpresents a question going to this Caijtirisdiction, which must
be addressed first by the Court before proceeding to consideration of Hpafotest for intervention of rightSee
In re Endangered Species Act Section 4 Deadline | ¢y F.R.D1, 5 (D.D.C. 2011)see also Fund for Animals
322 F.3d at 732Sierra Club v. EPA292 F.3d 895, 898 (D.C. Cir. 2002)he Court concludes that the Movants
have met thé&irreducible constitutional minimutrof standing by showing a concrete injury caysatinnected to
their employment at the CFSA that could be redressed by eafdealecision from this CourSeelujan v.
Defenders of Wildlife504 U.S. 555, 5661 (1992).
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an interest in the subject mattenisgue in the action and that the Movants’ interests would not as
a practical matter be impaired or impeded by the disposition of the case. Utha@ees that

the Movants would not be able to satisfy these requirements and, therefore, tlugis rtwot
intervene of right would be denied on the merits.

First, the Movants have no legally cognizable interest in the specific clasegeasby
the plaintiffs in this employment discrimination lawsuit. While the Movants may shr¢hs
plaintiffs similar kegal claims against the same defendant, the factual sufficiency of each claim
would be assessed for each plaintiff and movant individually. Indeed/ovantssoncedé'the
individual nature of the discrimination/retaliation claimgen they arguéhat“the interests of
the Intervenors cannot be adequately protected by the current partiestigdtierii’ First Mot.
at 2; Second Mot. at 1.

Second, even if the Movants had a legally cognizable interest, that interest wadogd not
impaired by a judgmerdn the plaintiffs’ claims. Impairment exists when the decision in a
pending matter would foreclose or adversely affect the rights of the proposednoten a
subsequent proceeding. Even if one or more plaintiffs would have prevailed with a judgment in
his or her favor, the legal interests and claims of the Movants would, as a praatiea, be
unaffected. As the defendant correctly points out, each Movant has “an independaerit right
action that he or she can pursue regardless of the outcome of this proceeding.Opeh to
Second Mot., ECF No. 28, at $eeShea v. Anguldl9 F.3d 343, 347 (7th Cir. 199%4yhere
proposed intervenor is free to initiate own suit for recovery no matter whethaifpfaevails,
there is no potential impairmeof intervenors interest)In re Safeguard Scientific220 F.R.D.

43, 48-49 (E.D. Pa. 2004) (denying motion to intervene as of right because impairment
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requirement was not met where proposed intervenmersdin[ed] free to assert their claims by
filing individual civil actions against [the defenddit]

In connection with the impairment factor, the Court is cognizant that if the Movants
individually filed their own complaints for employment discrimination, at least five may be
unsuccessful. The recoiglbare of any evidence that five of tevants filed adiscrimination
chargewith the EEOC received a righto-sue letter from the EEOQr otherwiseexhausted their
administrative remediesThus, if nonfiling Movants attempt to file individually the claims
asserted in the First and Second Complamisitervention, the effort may Hatile and their
claim would be subject to dismissal for failure to exhaust their administrativeliesmer his
impairment would not be due to the disposition of this action, however, but to the Movants own
action or inaction and therefore is not the type of impairment that Rule 24(a) wakeohte
protect againstSeeUnited States Wew York 198 F.3d 360, 366 (2d Cir. 1999A(ty failure
on their part to act within the applicable statutes of limitations does not sufficientyr itneir
interests to warrant intervention under Rule 24(a)(2); rather, the harm to temstatmust be
attributable to the court’s disposition of the suit in which intervention is s6yghines v. GES
Exposition ServsNo. 02-6243, 2004 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 17981, at *27 (N.D. Ill. Sept. 3, 2004)
(“[E]ven if the intervenors were barred from bringing a separate acti@s to their Title VII
claims, for failure to timely file a charge .this would not constitute a sufficient impairment of
interests within the meaning of Rule 24(a) because the harm would not be due to theatisposit
of this action.”).

Indeed, the claims of the non-filing Movants would be subject to challenge foeftlur
exhaust their administrative remedies, just ttke claims of the nofiling plaintiffs. Although

neither the defendant nor the Movants address this issue, the non-filing Movants presumably
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would seek to excuse their failure to exhaust their atnative remedies for their employment
discrimination claims by relying on vicarious exhaustion, just as thdilnanplaintiffs have
done. Cf. James v. Englan®32 F. Supp. 2d 239, 248 (D.D.C. 2004)]he District of
Columbia Circuit has permittadtervention in Title VII class action lawsuits by parties even if
they have not exhausted their administrative reméylieshe five nonfiling M ovants, however,
would be no more entitled to vicarious exhaustion than the non-filing plaintiffs, for whom
vicarious exhaustion is not available due to the disparate nature of their legaitantdaims,
as discussed in section IV. A.s3jpra Their divergent factual allegations make amply clear that
the EEOC could not have had notice of the Movants’ claims based upon the EEOC charges filed
by the three plaintiffs who exhausted their administrative remedies. Thudotaats would
not be able to rely upon the “sindgiéng” rule to assert their claimsAccord Kifafi v. Hilton
Hotel Ret. PlanNo. 98-1517, 2004 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 28928,*16-17 (D.D.C. Sept. 27, 2004)
(denying motion to intervene in ERISA suithere plaintiffs exhaustion “does not excuse
Intervenors own failure to do so,” since movaitaims differ in nature from plaintif§ claims).

In sum, the Court finds that, even if these motions were not moot, the Movants would
have failed to meet the requirements for intervention of right.

2. Permissive InterventionWould Not Be Warranted

As an alternative ground, the Movants contend that the Court should exercise its broad
discretion for permissive intervention under Rule 24(b)(2) and grant their mationtsrvene.
Even if the motions to intervene were not moot, the Court would decline to allow permissive
intervention. For permissive intervention, the Movants must show that they shareemthain
action a common question of law or fact, and the Court “must consider whether thentiberv
will unduly delay or prejudice the adjudication of the original parties’ righfgp. R.Civ. P.
24(b)(1)(B) & (3). The Movants would satisfy neither of these requisite showings
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The Movants acknowledge the differences in the factual allegations among daeh of
Movants and thelgintiffs, stating that the claims of earesent|[] their uniga experiencé.
Movants’ Reply Mem., ECF No. 29, at 2; Movants’ Reply Mem., ECF No. 26, at 2.
Nonetheless, the Movants contend that these conceded differences mifast®, not against,
intervention because together edglaintiff and/or intervenoadds a piece to a complex puZzle
that“portray[s] a hostile work environmentfd. The Court disagrees.

Close examination of the Movantdaims make clear that they do not sufficiently share
common questions of law or fact in common with each oth#reomain action that these claims
could be efficiently considered togethé&ther courts have similarly denig@dervention in
discrimination cases for failure to show a common question of law onféaere they allege
disparatdreatment claims thatr@unique to each individual complainanddnes 2004 U.S.

Dist. LEXIS 17981 at*32 (citing Seils v. Rochester City School Distrit®9 F.R.D. 506, 512
(W.D.N.Y. 2001) (‘The fact that a plaintiff may attempt to introduce evidence relating to the
treatrent of a proposed intervenor at trial in the instant matter does not create ‘coraugsnab
law or fact warranting interventiory)).

Despite the limited overlap in the factual allegations and legal claims of the Movents an
plaintiffs, the fact remainshat each asserts particuladividual circumstancesThe Movants’
claims largely relate to different CFSA units, different supervisorsréfft allegedly
discriminatory and retaliatory actions, and different adverse actionshinghaintiffs. For
example, while all of the plaintiffs complain about their treatment in the CPS compénent o
CFSA, six of the Movants allege discriminatory treatment by other units, includiigme and
Reunification Services, the Licensing & Monitoring Division and tamiy Stabilization

Branch. SeeBergman v. SnoyNo. 06-303, 2008 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 10924 ,*2-3 (D.D.C.
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July 10, 2008) (motion to intervene in disability discrimination suit denied as having “n6 merit
where movant claimed tesuffer from similar psydhatric disorder$as plaintiff but worked in
“entirely different parts of the Agengy The tliee Movants who did work in CPS complain
about entirelydifferentactions than the plaintiffsOutlined below are several examples:

e Movant Ivey describes herl@fjed observations of African casewerkbeing
warned not to submit overtime payments, thig is simply not a central claim
made by any plaintiff.

e Movant Lahai complains about being completely overwhelmed by her workload
in 2008 after the Jacks tragedy, but unlike the plaintiffs who complained that they
were penalized with poor work evaluations for their backlogs, Lahai claims she
was given nothing to do and thesastransferred to another unit.

¢ Movant Mickenskewis describes the demand from the CPS Bepirector,
Supervisor |, to terminate an African caseworker due to a complaint fromlg fam
he was investigating, but she nowhere alleges that the termination requdsiewas
to a discriminatory or retaliatory reasodnlike the plaintiffs claims of
retaliation for engaging in protected activity, Mickdresvis claim that she was
terminated for not complying with Supervisor I's instructions to fire a cas@wor
who was the subject of a complaint, does not appear to involve any allegation of
underlyingdiscrimination against her or retaliation for engaging in protected
activity.

The differences in each Movant and plainsiféxperiencewould unduly complicate and
confuse the circumstances that apply to each p&y.example,ite Movants complain abbu
Supervisors K through T, wholly different supervisors than A through J, whose actidhs are
source of the plaintiffscomplaints. In total, at least twenty different supervisors at various
management levels in various CFSA components are alleged to have engaged imdiscyim
or retaliatory actions against different Movants and the plaintiffs. Kgepaok of which
supervisor took an allegedly illegal action against a particular plaintiff or Mowauit lead to
unnecessary confusion.

The differences in the nature of the alleged actions underlying different legal claims

would also raise a significant risk of engendering potential prejudice not ohly tetendant
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but also to thelaims of theMovants or plaintiffs. For example, certain Movasisch as
Monono and Mbadiugha, claim age discrimination, even though other Moeagptdvey and
Lahai) and plaintiffs€.g, McCall and Meade), who aocéder than Monono and Mbadiugha, do
not assert claims for age discriminatidn.addition, certain Movants, such as lvey, describe
allegedly discriminatory actions taken against other CFSA employees but imst &g
personally, while other Movants claim denial of overtime pay and other allegbdysa actions
taken against them. s&he defendant aarately points out, “[a]llowing movants to intervene in
this suit will expand the scope of the issues . . . and delay the current proce@&#hdJppn to
Second Mot. at 4.

Accordingly, even if these motions were not moot, the Court would deny thartov
motions to intervene of right or permissively.

VI. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the defendant’s Motion to Dismiss the Second Amended
Complaint will be GRANTED, and the plaintiffs’ two pending Motions to Intervene will be
DENIED. This cas will be dismissed.

A separate order consistent with these findings and conclusions of law stoalpany

this Memorandum Opinion.

DATED: April 16, 2012
BERYL A. HOWELL
United States District Judge
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